COMPUTER INTEGRATION IN THE ELEMENTARY CLASSROOM: A TEACHER PERSPECTIVE ON THE CHALLENGES AND APPROPRIATE SUPPORTS

BY

BARBARA L. WALL

A Thesis

Submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

MASTER OF EDUCATION

Department of Curriculum: Mathematics/Natural Sciences University of Manitoba Winnipeg, Manitoba

(c) January, 1994



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0N4 Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Direction des acquisitions et des services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa (Ontario) K1A 0N4

Your lile Votre rélérence

Our file Notre référence

THE AUTHOR HAS GRANTED AN IRREVOCABLE NON-EXCLUSIVE LICENCE ALLOWING THE NATIONAL LIBRARY OF CANADA TO REPRODUCE, LOAN, DISTRIBUTE OR SELL COPIES OF HIS/HER THESIS BY ANY MEANS AND IN ANY FORM OR FORMAT, MAKING THIS THESIS AVAILABLE TO INTERESTED PERSONS. L'AUTEUR A ACCORDE UNE LICENCE IRREVOCABLE ET NON EXCLUSIVE PERMETTANT A LA BIBLIOTHEQUE NATIONALE DU CANADA DE REPRODUIRE, PRETER, DISTRIBUER OU VENDRE DES COPIES DE SA THESE DE QUELQUE MANIERE ET SOUS QUELQUE FORME QUE CE SOIT POUR METTRE DES EXEMPLAIRES DE CETTE THESE A LA DISPOSITION DES PERSONNE INTERESSEES.

THE AUTHOR RETAINS OWNERSHIP OF THE COPYRIGHT IN HIS/HER THESIS. NEITHER THE THESIS NOR SUBSTANTIAL EXTRACTS FROM IT MAY BE PRINTED OR OTHERWISE REPRODUCED WITHOUT HIS/HER PERMISSION.

Canada

L'AUTEUR CONSERVE LA PROPRIETE DU DROIT D'AUTEUR QUI PROTEGE SA THESE. NI LA THESE NI DES EXTRAITS SUBSTANTIELS DE CELLE-CI NE DOIVENT ETRE IMPRIMES OU AUTREMENT REPRODUITS SANS SON AUTORISATION.

ISBN 0-315-99003-1

nearly describes the content of your dissertation. Enter the corresponding four-digit code in the spaces provided.

Education: Elementary SUBJECT TERM



A __ _! _ ...

Subject Categories

THE HUMANITIES AND SOCIAL SCIENCES

COMMUNICATIONS AND	THE ARTS
Architecture	0729
Art History	0377
Cinema	
Dance	0378
Fine Arts	
Information Science	0723
Journalism	
Library Science	
Mass Communications	
Music	
Speech Communication	
Theater	0465

EDUCATION

General	0515
Administration	0514
Adult and Continuina	0516
Aaricultural	0517
Art	0273
Bilingual and Multicultural	0282
Business	0688
Community College	0275
Curriculum and Instruction	.0727
Early Childhood	0518
Elementary	.0524
Finance	.0277
Guidance and Counseling	.0519
Health	.0680
Higher	.0745
History of	.0520
Home Economics	.0278
Industrial	.0521
Language and Literature	.0279
Mathematics	.0280
Music	.0522
Philosophy of	.0998
Physical	.0523

Psychology	0525
Reading	0535
Religious	0527
Sciences	0714
Secondary	0533
Social Sciences	0534
Sociology of	0340
Special	0529
Teacher Training	0530
Technology	0710
Tests and Measurements	0288
Vocational	0747

LANGUAGE, LITERATURE AND LII

LINGUISTICS	
Language	
General	0679
Ancient	0289
Linguistics	0290
Modern	0291
Literature	
General	0401
Classical	0294
Comparative	0295
Medieval	0297
Modern	0298
African	0316
American	0591
Asian	0305
Canadian (Enalish)	0352
Canadian (French)	0355
Enalish	0593
Germanic	0311
Latin American	0312
Middle Eastern	0315
Romance	0313
Slavic and East European	0314

PHILOSOPHY, RELIGION AND THEOLOGY	
Philosophy	.0422
Religion	
Biblical Studios	.0318
Clergy	0319
History of	.0320
_ Philosophy of	.0322
Theology	.0469
SOCIAL SCIENCES	
American Studies	.0323
Anthropology	
Archaeology	.0324
Cultural	.0326
Business Administration	.032/
General	.0310
Accounting	0272
Banking	.0770
Management	.0454
Canadian Studies	0385
Economics	0000
General	0501
Agricultural	0503
Commerce-Business	0505
History	0508
Labor	0510
Theory	0511
Folklore	0358

Ancient	. UC	275
Medieval	.05	58
Modern	05	582
Black	0.7	128
African	07	221
Asia Australia and Oceania	00	22
Canadian	00	າວ 4
European	00	22
European	03	333
Latin American	03	336
Middle Eastern	03	133
United States	03	37
History of Science	05	85
Law	03	198
Political Science		
General	06	15
International law and		
Relations	06	14
Public Administration	ñĂ	17
Recreation	ñã	1
Social Work	200	50
Social WOIR	04	JZ
Sociology	~ /	~
General	00	ZC
Criminology and Penology	06	2/
Demography	09	38
Ethnic and Racial Studies	06	31
Individual and Family		
Studies	06	28
Industrial and Labor		
Relations	06	29
Public and Social Welfare	õĂ	ຈັດ
Social Structure and	00	00
Development	07	nη
Theory and Methods	ñ2	44
Transportation	03	44
	0/	09
Urban and Kegional Planning	29	29
women's Studies	04	53

THE SCIENCES AND ENGINEERING

BIOLOGICAL SCIENCES

Agriculture	
General	0473
Agronomy	0285
Animal Culture and	0475
Animal Pathology	0475
Food Science and	
Technology	0359
Forestry and Wildlife	0478
Plant Culture	0479
Plant Pathology	0480
Plant Physiology	0817
Range Management	0777
Wood lechnology	0/46
General	0304
Anatomy	0287
Biostatistics	0308
Botany	0309
Cell	0379
Ecology	0329
Entomology	. 0353
Genetics	0369
Limnology	0/93
Microbiology	0207
Neuroscience	0317
Oceanography	0416
Physiology	.0433
Radiation	.0821
Veterinary Science	. 0778
Zoology	.0472
Biophysics	070/
General	.0/86
medical	.0/00
EARTH SCIENCES	
Biogeochemistry	.0425
Geochemistry	0996

Geodesy Geology Hydrology Mineralogy Paleobotany Paleocology Paleontology Paleontology Paleynology	0370 0372 0388 0411 0345 0426 0418 0985 0427
Physical Oceanoaraphy	0306
HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENTA	L
SCIENCES	
Environmental Sciences	0768
Health Sciences	
General	0566
Audiology	0300
Chemotherapy	. 0992
Education	0250
Hospital Management	0760
Human Development	0758
Immunology	0982
Medicine and Surgery	0.564
Mental Health	. 0347
Nursing	0569
Nutrition	. 0570
Obstetrics and Gynecology	. 0380
Occupational Health and	
Therapy	0354
Ophthalmology	.0381
Pathology	.05/1
Pharman Pharman	.0419
Physical Therapy	.03/2
Public Health	0573

Radiology0574 Recreation0575

Toxicology Home Economics	0383 0386
PHYSICAL SCIENCES	
Pure Sciences	
Chemistry	
General	0485
Agricultural	. 0749
Analytical	. 0486
Biochemistry	. 0487
Inorganic	. 0488
Nuclear	. 0738
Organic	. 0490
Pharmaceutical	.0491
Physical	.0494
Polymer	.0495
Radiation	. 0754
Mathematics	.0405
Physics	
General	.0605
Acoustics	.0986
Astronomy and	
Astrophysics	.0606
Atmospheric Science	. 0608
Atomic	.0748
Electronics and Electricity	.0607
Elementary Particles and	
High Energy	.0798
Fluid and Plasma	. 0759
Molecular	.0609
Nuclear	.0610
Optics	.0752
Radiation	.0756
Solid State	.0611
Statistics	. 0463

Aerospace	.0537
Aaricultural	.0539
Automotive	.0540
Biomedical	.0541
Chemical	.0542
Civil	.0543
Electronics and Electrical	.0544
Heat and Thermodynamics	.0348
Hydraulic	.0545
Industrial	.0546
Marine	.0547
Materials Science	.0794
Mechanical	.0548
Metallurgy	.0743
Mining	.0551
Nuclear	.0552
Packaging	.0549
Petroleum	.0765
Sanitary and Municipal	.0554
System Science	.0790
Geolechnology	.0428
Operations Research	.0796
Plastics lechnology	.0/95
Textile Technology	. 0994
PSYCHOLOGY	
General	0621
Behavioral	0201

0537

()

PSY

Engineering General ..

	_
Social	0451
Psychometrics	0632
rsychopiology	0349
Daughabiala	
Physiological	0989
Personality	0625
indusingi	0024
Industrial	0424
Experimental	0623
Developmental	0620
	0622
Cliniant	
Behavioral	0384
General	

Geography	,
Gerontology0351	
History	
Géneral0578	

Speech Pathology	0460
Toxicology	0383
E	0201

Ρ

High Energy Fluid and Plasma Molecular Nuclear Optics Radiation Solid State		Behavioral Clinical Developmenta Experimental Industrial Personality Physiological
Statistics Applied Sciences Applied Mechanics Computer Science	0463 0346 0984	Psychobiology Psychometrics Social

Nom

Dissertation Abstracts International est organisé en catégories de sujets. Veuillez s.v.p. choisir le sujet qui décrit le mieux votre thèse et inscrivez le code numérique approprié dans l'espace réservé ci-dessous.

SUJET

Catégories par sujets

HUMANITÉS ET SCIENCES SOCIALES

COMMUNICATIONS ET LES ARTS

Architecture	
Beaux-arts	
Bibliothéconomie	
Cinéma	
Communication verbale	
Communications	
Danse	0378
Histoire de l'art	
Journalisme	
Musique	0413
Sciences de l'information	0723
Théôtre	0465

ÉDIICATION

Généralités	515
Administration	0514
Art	0273
Collèges communautaires	0275
Commerce	0688
Économie domestique	0278
Education permanente	0516
Education préscolaire	0518
Education sanitaire	0680
Enseignement agricole	0517
Enseignement bilingue et	
multiculturel	0282
Enseignement industriel	0521
Enseignement primaire	0524
Enseignement professionnel	0747
Enseignement religieux	0527
Enseignement secondaire	0533
Enseignement spécial	0529
Enseignement supérieur	0745
Evaluation	0288
Finances	0277
Formation des enseignants	0530
Histoire de l'éducation	0520
Lanaues et littérature	0279

Programmes a erudes er enseignement 0727 Psychologie 0525 Sciences 0714 Sciences sociales 0534 Sociologie de l'éclucation 0340 Technologie 0710

LANGUE, LITTÉRATURE ET LINGUISTIQUE

LINUULJINGUL	
Langues	
Généralités	067
Anciennes	028
Linguistique	0290
Modernes	029
Littérature	
Généralités	040
Anciennes	0294
Comparée	029:
Mediévale	0292
Moderne	0298
Africaine	0316
Américaine	059
Anglaise	0593
Asiatique	0303
Canadienne (Analaise)	0352
Canadienne (Francaise)	0355
Germanique	031
Latino-oméricaine	0312
Moven-orientale	0313
Romone	0313
Slave et est-européenne	0314

PHILOSOPHIE, RELIGION ET

hilosophie	0422
Religion	
Généralités	0318
Çlergé	0319
Etudes bibliques	0321
Histoire des religions	0320
Philosophie de la religion	0322
héologie	0469
T	

SCIENCES SOCIALES

Anthropologie	
Archéologie	0324
Culturelle	0326
Physique	0327
Droit	0398
Économie	
Généralités	0501
Commerce-Affaires	0505
Économie garicole	0503
Économie du travail	0510
Finances	0.508
Histoire	0509
Théorie	0511
Études américaines	0323
Etudes canadiennes	0385
Etudes féministes	0453
oklore	0358
Géoaraphie	0366
Gérontologie	0351
Gestion des affaires	
Générolités	.0310
Administration	0454
Banaves	0770
Comptabilité	0272
Marketina	0338
tistoire	
Histoire générale	0578

Médiévale0581 Africaine 0331 Canadienne 0334 Étals-Unis0337 Droit et relations internationales0616 pénitentiaires 0627 pénitentiaires 0627 Pémographie 0938 Etudes de l'individu et 0628 Études des relations interethniques et des relations raciales0631 Structure et développement

Ancienne

CODE DE SUJET

re ge

SCIENCES PHYSIQUES

Sciences Pures

Chimie	
Genérolités	0485
Biochimie	487
Chimie goricole	0749
Chimie analytique	0486
Chimie minérole	0488
Chimie nucléaire	0738
Chimie organique	0490
Chimie pharmaceutique	0491
Physique	0494
PolymCres	0495
Radiation	0754
Mathématiques	0405
Physique	. 0400
Généralités	0605
Acoustique	0986
Astronomie et	
astrophysique	0606
Electronique et électricité	0607
Fluides et plasma	0759
Météorologie	0608
Optique	0752
Porticules (Physique	
nuclégire)	.0798
Physique atomique	0748
Physique de l'état solide	0611
Physique moléculaire	0609
Physique nucléoire	0610
Radiation	0756
Statistiques	.0463
Sciences Appliqués Et	

Se Te

Technologie	
Informatique	0984
Ingénierie	
Généralités	0537
Agricole	0539
Automobile	0540

Biomédicale	.0541
Chaleur et ther	
modynamique	.0348
Conditionnement	
(Emballage)	0549
Génie gérospatial	0538
Génie chimique	0542
Gónio civil	0542
Cánia álastranious at	.0545
dente electronique er	0511
electrique	.0544
Genie industriel	.0546
Génie mécanique	.0548
Génie nucléaire	.0552
Ingénierie des systömes	.0790
Mécanique navale	.0547
Métallurgie	.0743
Science des matériaux	.0794
Technique du pétrole	0765
Technique minière	0551
Techniques sanitaires et	
municipales	0554
Tochnologia hydraulique	0545
Mécanique appliquée	0343
Céatacha al a sia	0.40
Geolecinologie	.0420
malleres plastiques	0705
(lechnologie)	.0795
Recherche operationnelle	.0796
Textiles et tissus (Technologie)	.0794
PSYCHOLOGIE	
Généralités	0421
Porconnolité	0621
Development in the second seco	.0023

P

621
625
349
622
384
620
623
624
989
451
632

SCIENCES ET INGÉNIERIE

SCIENCES BIOLOGIQUES

Aduconoie	
Généralités	. 0473
Aaronomie.	0285
Alimentation et technologie	
alimentaire	0250
Culture	0337
Culture	.0479
Elevage et alimentation	.04/5
Exploitation des péturages	.0777
Pathologie animale	.0476
Pathologie végétale	.0480
Physiologie végétale	0817
Sulviculture et laune	0479
Toshnologio du hais	0714
a. I crimologie du bois	.0/40
BIOLOGIE	
Généralités	.0306
Anatomie	.0287
Biologie (Statistiques)	.0308
Biologie moléculaire	.0307
Botanique	0309
Cellue	0379
Ecologia	0220
Enternalente	0327
chiomologie	.0333
Genetique	.0369
Limnologie	.0793
Microbiologie	.0410
Neurologie	.0317
Océanoaraphie	.0416
Physiologie	0433
Radiation	0821
Science vétéringire	0779
Zealasia	0472
D'	.04/2
biophysique	0704
Generalités	.0786
Medicale	. 0760
CORNERS OF LA STODE	
SCIENCES DE LA TERRE	
Biogéochimie	.0425
Géochimie	.0996
Géodésie	.0370
Géographie physique	0368

Géologie Géophysique Hydrologie Océanographie physique Paléobotanique Paléocologie Paléocologie Paléocologie Paléozologie Paléozologie Palynologie	.0372 .0373 .0388 .0411 .0415 .0345 .0426 .0418 .0985 .0427
SCIENCES DE LA SANTÉ ET DE L'ENVIRONNEMENT Économie domestique Sciences de la sonté	.0386 .0768

conomic domestique	. 0500
ciences de l'environnement	. 0768
ciences de la santé	
Généralités	.0566
Administration des hipitaux	.0769
Alimentation et nutrition	.0570
Audiologie	.0300
Chimiothéropie	0992
Dentisterie	0567
Développement humain	0758
Enseignement	0350
Immunologie	0982
Loisirs	0575
Médecine du travail et	
thérapie	0354
Médecine et chiruraie	0564
Obstétrique et avnécologie	0380
Ophtalmologie	0381
Orthophonie	0460
Pathologie	0571
Pharmacie	0572
Pharmacologie	0419
Physiothéropie	0382
Radiologie	0574
Santé mentale	0347
Santé publique	0573
Soins infirmiers	0569
Toxicologie	0383

0756 0463	
0984	

COMPUTER INTEGRATION IN THE ELEMENTARY CLASSROOM:

A TEACHER PERSPECTIVE ON THE CHALLENGES

AND APPROPRIATE SUPPORTS

ΒY

BARBARA L. WALL

A Thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies of the University of Manitoba in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of

MASTER OF EDUCATION

© 1994

Permission has been granted to the LIBRARY OF THE UNIVERSITY OF MANITOBA to lend or sell copies of this thesis, to the NATIONAL LIBRARY OF CANADA to microfilm this thesis and to lend or sell copies of the film, and LIBRARY MICROFILMS to publish an abstract of this thesis.

The author reserves other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or other-wise reproduced without the author's written permission.

Abstract

This study examines the issues which are dealt with by one classroom teacher and a collaborating teacher - researcher colleague, while attempting to integrate computers into the classroom. It identifies professional development strategies which might be effective in supporting a teacher in this type of learning situation. The Grade four teacher involved in the study was using the software program "Knowledge Builder" with Macintosh computers.

The conceptual framework for the study is drawn from Donald Schon's work in the area of reflective practice, as well as F. Michael Connelly and D. Jean Clandinin's work on narrative inquiry. This study attempts to incorporate the strengths of both perspectives as each are related to professional development of teachers, and computer integration.

The contribution of this study is the validity and voice which it gives to a classroom teacher and a collaborating teacher researcher who are aspiring to improve teaching practice and learning in the classroom. The study identifies concerns and issues that arise in the areas of computer integration and the professional growth which occurs in both participants.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank the members of my thesis committee, Dr. Sheldon Rosenstalk, and Dr. Jazlin Edenezer for the time, energy and insight they provided during the writing of this thesis. I would especially like to thank my advisor, Dr. Hal Grunau for his continued support, encouragement and work on my behalf.

I am indebted to Lee, without whom this thesis would never have come to be. Thank you for your continued willingness to read, reread, and dialogue as the thesis evolved and took shape.

It is with great appreciation that I thank my family, Ken, and Kerry, for their support during this time. Thanks also to my many friends, whose interest and encouragement were crucial during the many stages of writing.

I would like to dedicate this thesis to my parents, Jac and Connie Ketler. They have instilled in me a desire to learn, and to view the many demands one encounters along the way as challenges. Thank you for all your understanding and support.

Computer Integration iv

D - - - -

Table of Contents

	Page
Abstract	ii
Acknowledgements	iii
Chapter One	1
Introduction	1
Problem Statement	3
Conceptual and Methodological Framework	4
Need For the Study	7
Significance of the Study	7
Overview of the Thesis	8
Limitations	10
Chapter Two	11
Review of Related Literature	11
Professional Development / Inservice Training Computer Inservice Training For Teachers Computer Anxiety	13 19 31
Theoretical Framework	35
Schon's Reflective Practice Knowing - In - Action Reframing Reflection - On - Action Summary Narrative Inquiry	36 40 41 44 46 47

48 49 54 55
55
 55 59 60 61 62 63 64 64 64 65 66 68 69 69 71
73
73 75 78 81 84 85 92 96 97 03 07

Computer In	ntegration vi
Collaborative Meaning - Making	114
Chapter Five	121
Conclusions, Methodological Issues and Implication	ıs 121
Objectives and Questions	121
Conclusions	122
Methodoligical issues	125
Implications for Practice	126
Implications for Future Research	127
Appendix	129
Bibliography	131

Introduction:

Over the past decade, computers have become much more accessible and affordable for the general public as well as the public school system. Furthermore, the capabilities of the personal computer have increased tremendously in recent years. However, many teachers that I have talked to do not feel that they have the training or the expertise to incorporate computers into the classroom, and find themselves in an uncomfortable situation, caught between their personal comfort levels and the increasing demands to integrate technology. The task of teaching with computers is complicated by the fact that there are few guidelines which outline a philosophical base, goals or strategies for a teacher to refer to.

Some teachers have expressed to me their feelings of inadequacy and apprehension about working and teaching with the computers because they have not developed a personal comfort level with either or both of the computer hardware and software.

At least one school division in Manitoba has developed its own computer software program, which incorporates student thinking and writing strategies. The majority of the teachers in the Division have been given three half day training sessions on the use of the Macintosh computer and the Knowledge Builder software. (See Appendix) Many of the Grades 4 - 6 classrooms in the Division have at least three Macintosh computers in the classroom for student use. While the Knowledge Builder program is not mandated by provincial curriculum guidelines, the Division has developed its own priorities and outline for a computer program beginning in Grade Four. The Divisional guidelines incorporate thinking and writing skills through expository writing. The words that have been coined are "writing for meaning". An extensive document has been compiled outlining fifty - two thinking and writing strategies which have also been built into the computer software program. The general intent is that the computers be utilized in a variety of ways across curricula. The teacher is now expected to adapt lessons to incorporate computers, deal with the challenges of timetabling students for computer access, cope with any difficulties experienced by the students while using the program, as well as plan for the students who do not have access to a computer.

I have discovered that many teachers with whom I relate have concerns and anxieties about being required to learn enough about computers to use them with students in the classroom. Furthermore, several teachers have told me that they are uncomfortable working with a computer program that is very complex and which is not completely stable in that the program "crashes" at times, and students can lose work that they have done. I believe they are also hesitant to take their students into the computer laboratory because they are unsure how to structure their classes effectively. As an experienced elementary classroom teacher, I have dealt with many of these feelings myself. I have struggled with exploring this new medium composed of both hardware and software components, and with being afraid that something was about to explode if touched incorrectly. I am very aware of the frustration of not knowing how to make the computer do something which I believed was so simple. I believe that teachers can support and assist each other in developing confidence and skill in using the computer. This type of peer support should make it easier for teachers to cope with the many challenges of a new dimension of classroom teaching. Overall, I believe teacher inservice and support are crucial for effective computer use in school classrooms to occur.

I am interested in the elementary classroom context, where I believe that the integration of computer technology has often been addressed in a less systematic way than for many other curricula. The role of the classroom teacher is critical, and I believe that role will be affected by the vision that the teacher has of him/herself, of computer technology and integration, and his/her confidence in integrating the computer in the classroom environment on a regular basis. This study explores some of the concerns and issues which arise in the course of inquiry into computer integration into one classroom and gives an account of what the participating teacher and I learned as we grew together.

Problem Statement

The purpose of this study is to examine existing and emerging problems and issues, and to search for effective inservice strategies or supports for an elementary classroom teacher who is integrating computers into the classroom. This study occurs within the context of one Manitoba school division, and one school's "climate" of computer use in the school and its classrooms. It is important to indicate at the outset that the study is collaborative involving a single teacher - participant and a teacher - researcher with implications for each throughout the study.

The following guiding strands were originally constructed as starting points for the study and continued to serve to guide the entire study to its completion:

1. What concerns or issues arise when a teacher plans for and attempts to implement computer technology into the classroom?

How do inservice strategies or supports influence the classroom teacher in her exploration and experimentation with different possibilities of computer integration?
 What reconstructions of meaning do the teacher - participant and the teacher - researcher make in the context of their collaborative inquiry into the use of computers?

Conceptual and Methodological Framework:

Following Max Van Manen's (1977) thinking about interpretive practice, the approach used in this study is not primarily to develop hypotheses and generalized statements about the effectiveness of teacher behaviour and the curriculum. Rather, it is concerned with making the educational experiences and actions of teachers and learners understandable to others. "The interpretive approach to curriculum seeks to analyze and clarify meanings, perceptions, assumptions, prejudgments, and presuppositions. This approach attempts to make experientially meaningful the curriculum as a subjective and interpersonal process." (p. 213)

This study was further grounded in a particular theoretical framework which gave validity and meaning to the everyday activities of a classroom teacher. The framework, made up of ideas on reflective practice and the education of practitioners in the professions developed by Donald Schon (1983, 1988), and set in the wider context of "narrative inquiry" based on the work of F. Michael Connelly and D. Jean Clandinin (1985, 1987, 1988, 1989, 1990). This framework will be elaborated on in Chapter 2.

Donald Schon's ideas on "reflection - in and on - action" identify a particular way of dealing with events which occur in practice. By consciously or unconsciously "naming" the things one wishes to attend to in a problem context, and "framing", or setting the bounds for the context in which attention will be focused, an individual is in a position to test in practice possible solutions to the problems which have been constructed. Accordingly, this study examines the reflectivity and accompanying "sense - making" which occurred on the part of myself, a teacher - researcher and Lee a teacher - participant; especially that which occurred through collaborative activity. Focussing on particular problems in such a reflective way led to a course of action which was designed to improve the situation and gradually improve our professional practice.

The work of Connelly and Clandinin also deals with classroom experience, but encompasses the larger picture of how a perspective

on classroom practice is shaped within the context of a conscious construction and reconstruction (or "storying" and "restorying") of personal and professional life. This includes an examination of people's "historical" or "biographical" journeys, in an effort to find interpretive connections between classroom events, and life experiences. This narrative inquiry also includes a "future" as well as "action" orientations. The action taken is a result of living out images which have resulted from reflecting on past and present events. The process also results in new images of and possibilities for future actions. Connelly and Clandinin's conception of narrative inquiry includes the involvement of a collaborator who plays a major role in suggesting interpretive connections between past and present, and possible or imagined future events. This allows the possibility of a practitioner living out the narrative which has been constructed. Connelly and Clandinin (1989) claim therefore, that narrative inquiry is itself an act of school reform (p. xvi).

This study attempts to incorporate the strengths of both Connelly and Clandinin's narrative inquiry and Schon's more focussed ideas of reflectivity on problems of practice as each are related to professional development of teachers and computer integration in the course of the study. The study draws on both conceptual frameworks in the course of examining the challenges faced by a teacher attempting to integrate Macintosh computers into an elementary school classroom.

Need For The Study

The idea for this study resulted from the teacher researcher's involvement with supporting teachers in her school who were trying to learn and use a Divisionally - generated software computer program on the Macintosh computer, referred to as the 'Knowledge Builder'. The teacher - researcher had been working with the software program for three years, and was in the second year of serving as member of a Divisional inservice team whose task was to brainstorm for and facilitate ways to assist teachers with integrating computers into the classroom more effectively. The teacher - researcher's personal questions about how to best assist and support teachers who were trying to learn and use the program generated the idea for the study. It was felt that many teachers were not using the computers effectively in their classrooms for a variety of reasons, and that no one had really listened to the teachers in the field to discover what frustrations and successes were experienced when attempting to integrate computer technology into the regular classroom routine.

Significance of Study:

Beyond the more personal significance implied under "Need For The Study" (p. 6) the local school Division should benefit from the careful study of teacher and collaborator experience using the "Knowledge Builder software program. Whether or not a person is from the local school or Division, a study of this kind shows promise of transferability, which may facilitate interested readers in seeing parallel situations to their own. Being able to see themselves in the case in one way or another may lead to possibilities for their own growth. The intent is not generalizability, but rather "particularizability", where through the rich detail concerning computer integration, teacher perspective and professional growth of one particular case, readers may be able to see significance for their own lives and work.

Overview Of Thesis:

The thesis is divided into five chapters, each developing a particular aspect of the necessary text to allow understanding of the study's questions in the context of supporting literature, methodology, collected data and its interpretation.

Chapter One provides an overview of the structure and content of the entire thesis. It includes the Problem Statement and the three guiding strands which directed the study. This chapter also outlines the significance of the study, a brief outline of the conceptual framework and associated methodology, the organizational structure of the study, and the limitations of the study.

Chapter Two is a review of relevant literature which supports the themes referred to in the study. Five areas are addressed in the Literature Review: 1) Professional Development For Teachers,

2) Professional Development Using Computers, 3) Computer Anxiety

4) Donald Schon - Reflective Meaning Making, 5) F. Michael Connelly and D. Jean Clandinin - Narrative Inquiry. The literature reviewed in these areas provide a backdrop for the reading and understanding of the subsequent chapters.

Chapter Three provides an outline of the methodology used in the study. This chapter builds on the conceptual framework and links the methodology employed with that framework. It also includes in detail, the research methodology used, including things like criteria for selecting the participant and the enrollment of the teacher - participant's classroom.

Chapter Four contains the data collected during the time of the study. It includes data collected from interviews, journal entries, as well as conversations which focussed on the elaboration, interpretation and clarification of the data which was recorded. Each data section is given its own title. The chapter concludes with a summary of the highlights of the chapter.

Chapter Five consists of a discussion of the "case" presented in Chapter 4. Accordingly, it deals with interpretation of the case, its validity, and connections to existing theory. The chapter connects the practical and theoretical implications of the entire study. Some suggestions for assisting teachers who are attempting to adopt new technologies and curriculum into their classrooms are provided as suggestions for further research.

Limitations

There were several limitations of the study which became evident as time went on. While the teacher - researcher was hoping to gain additional data from the noon hour inservice sessions which were planned, very few of these sessions actually occurred during the time of the study. The teacher - researcher was planning to be in the Macintosh computer lab with the teacher - participant once per cycle for six months. Due to a variety of events like special assemblies and field trips, a number of scheduled classes were not held. The teacher - researcher and the teacher - participant were able to work together in the Macintosh lab sixteen of the twenty one potential computer classes.

Chapter 2

Review of Related Literature

The literature reviewed will be set in the theoretical framework provided by the work of Donald Schon (1983, 1987) and F. Michael Connelly and D. Jean Clandinin (1985, 1987, 1988, 1989, 1990). For Schon, Connelly and Clandinin, a common purpose is to outline an epistemology, or study of knowledge of practice in which the starting point for inquiry is a practical event - seen for example as an incidence of teaching in a computer class. Both lines of scholarship promote or favour rational inquiry along the lines set out by John Dewey (1933), and see such inquiry as part of professional growth. Both also recognize the importance of "teacher perspective" in the context of the teaching act and the underlying assumption or frames which support them. For both lines of scholarship, change in the "perspective" which results from inquiry is seen as the key to professional growth - and indeed, school reform as it results in new and improved action.

In the subsequent chapter, there will be differences in emphasis such that discussion of Schon's scholarship will emphasize his idea that reframing (ie. comprehending or hearing and seeing elements of the practice setting in new ways) and thus professional growth occurs in the context of what he calls "reflection - in and on - action". For Connelly and Clandinin, a more deliberate, collaborative search for a perspective will emphasize the role of a broader "life story" or "narrative" in helping to bring a teacher perspective (including images for the future) and changes in perspective to light.

In the above context, "inservice education" and "computer inservice training for teachers" may be seen to fit into the framework and the review of literature. Thus to the extent that the inservice component is removed from the classroom it may be seen more as a longer range, biographical "story" which may contribute to the larger narrative and may eventually help shape the perspective which the teacher brings to the teaching act. To the extent that the inservice component consists of a kind of collaboration more closely linked to the teaching act (including various forms of classroom interaction), it may also become part of the developing narrative, yet more closely aligned to Schon's work to the extent that his more specific activities such as "modelling" and "coaching" are included.

The sequence of literature reviewed will be: i) Professional Development and Inservice Training, ii) Computer Inservice Training for Teachers, iii) Computer Anxiety, iv) Schon's Reflective Practice, and v) Narrative Inquiry.

Professional Development / Inservice Training

The Literature shows that while professional development for teachers is deemed important, the way in which it has often been undertaken has not been particularly effective. In order to facilitate a change of practice, teachers need on - going, collaborative support rather than isolated, independent inservice sessions.

Much time, effort and money are put into forums which are designed to facilitate change among teachers in the profession. Ellis (1990) comments that the method most often used to encourage change is a "one-shot" inservice session from which the teacher is expected to glean all the information necessary to bring about immediate change in the classroom. Unfortunately, while this particular format often does deliver useful initial information (Hord & Austin, 1986), it has been reported that "one - shot" workshops that had no follow - up implementation support have not been proven to be effective either for changing teachers behaviors or increasing student learning. (Ellis, 1990)

Educational change is a long and tedious process that does not end with the adoption of a new curriculum or approach to teaching (Ellis, p.55). Or, stated another way, "implementation" does not equal delivery of an innovation, as has been widely assumed in the past. (Hord & Austin, 1986)

Hord and Austin (1986) claim that recent research show that at least three factors are most often overlooked in the process of implementing curriculum: 1) Realization that various types of actions that support teachers will be required.

2) Identification of who is responsible for facilitating the change that the teacher will make.

3) Understanding on the part of faculty (or Division) that change takes a great deal of time and that even under the best of circumstances, implementation takes several years. (p. 97)

These statements highlight the importance of examining what is being done and reported in the area of teacher professional development.

Judyth Sachs and Lloyd Logan (1986), in their study entitled "Control or development? A study of inservice education," explore the notion of professional development often being perceived by teachers as being compensatory rather than developmental. They believe that "inservice education, embedded either consciously or unconsciously in assumptions rooted in bureaucratic control, increases teacher dependency through a process of deskilling and reskilling" (p. 473). The study determined that in the majority of inservice sessions activities focussed unduly on practicality and relevance in regard to the teachers' responsibility for improving instruction, and this at the expense of organizational factors.

Taken together these two characteristics contribute albeit inadvertently, to the diminution of the control teachers exercise over their own practice and its development. That is, an overriding concern for 'relevance' and 'practicality' serves to contribute to the deskilling of teachers through containing the focus to, and heightening the importance of, immediacy. (p. 377)

Those responsible for professional development of teachers must realize that the most effective type of inservice is one that teachers decide is necessary and relevant to their situation (Sachs & Logan, p.5).

Indeed, the effectiveness of an inservice training session is determined by how a teacher perceives the session itself. Hord and Austin (1986) believe that "if the people expected to implement a program judge it to be of poor quality, or not appropriate for their situation, they may not be enthusiastic about it" (p. 98). While it is not feasible for teachers to have a choice in what they are asked to implement, it is important that those involved in the communication of the "new information" provide an opportunity for the participants in their program to dialogue about the realities of the new program, and provide a framework in which the new developments can be put into perspective.

Consistent with Sachs and Logan (1986), Mary Beattie (1989), in her thesis <u>Teacher Learning and Inquiry As Curriculum</u> <u>Development</u> observes some difficulties with conventional inservice strategies:

Over the years I had also found myself becoming increasingly uncomfortable with the way teachers were treated and viewed by curriculum developers and it seemed highly inconsistent to me that workshop leaders promoted a view of the student learner as self-motivated, self - directed problem solver at the same time as they were treating the teacher learner as a receptacle for current teaching strategies and skills. This attitude towards teacher learning gave very little credit to our individuality as teachers, our different backgrounds and our different levels of experience and knowledge (p. 40).

Beattie emphasizes the importance of treating teachers with respect and is consistent with a view of an individual's developing life "story" which results in different perspectives which will be addressed throughout the review.

Burrello and Orbaugh (1982) believe that "collaborative approaches to inservice programs are the most effective" (p. 385). This process would include providing personalized information specific to a teacher's need, and explaining each teacher's use of the program through clarification and solving individual problems. Hord and Austin (1986) also note the importance of process:

What we now understand is that helping teachers change their practice is a process. Thus, school staff development sessions for teachers, and providing different training as they develop understanding and skills regarding a new curriculum are much more effective than a three day inservice workshop supplied prior to the opening of school (p. 107).

While ongoing support is imperative to the success of a new curriculum being implemented effectively, Hord and Austin (1986) point out that the kind of support necessary varies at different points along the implementation timeline:

When a major change in a program is to be implemented, it is relatively safe to assume that the majority of people are starting at or near the same point, and need the same general kinds of information and assistance. Therefore, it is reasonable to provide interventions that are less individual at the beginning of implementation. During the ensuing stages, teacher skill in use of the new curriculum develops at varying rates, and in diverse ways and teachers require more individual attention to support their innovation use, thus the need for even more consultation in year two (p.108). Burrello and Orbaugh (1982), through extensive study of numerous inservice education attempts outline six major observations which they believe constitute effective inservice education. Accordingly, inservice education programs should:

1) Be designed, integrated into, and supported by the organization.

2) Be designed to result in collaborative programs, with input from a wide variety of sources.

3) Be grounded in the needs of the participants and the use of problem - solving skills should be a part of inservice training.
4) Be responsive to changing needs, should model good teaching strategies, and peer teaching strategies, should be directed toward changing teaching behavior. The implementation strategy should include continual professional growth activities, and the local development of collaboratively prepared materials.

5) Be accessible, be conducted primarily during the participants' normal working hours, at convenient locations.
6) Be evaluated over time, and be compatible with the underlying philosophy and approach of the area. Evaluation can be used to i) determine needs, ii) plan programs, iii) revise activities, and iv) judge impact (p. 385-386).

These observations about inservice education highlight the importance of teacher involvement in facilitating change.

Consistent with Burrello and Orbaugh (1982), Fullan (1982) points out that when a teacher is asked to change his/her particular teaching style to accommodate a particular curriculum, she/he is being required to change several dimensions: the use of new materials, alterations in their teaching behaviour, and changes to their beliefs and attitudes. Also consistent with Burrello and Orbaugh (1982) Hord and Austin (1986) state the importance of follow up support:

Follow up support is critical if the most effective change is to occur. We believe that the success or failure of implementation is determined by the frequency and effort of one to one follow-up interactions with teachers that focus on their problems and concerns about changing their teaching practices. Such actions are powerful interventions, when they respond to teacher's needs for information, encouragement, and personalized assistance in understanding how to make a new program work for them and their students (p.108).

What supports and structures make it easiest for the teacher to learn new strategies and gain new insights? A teachers' knowledge and experience must be included and drawn upon where ever possible. Though referring to her own study, Beattie (1989) draws a very powerful, even poignant conclusion which can be applied to inservice training and professional development in general. She states:

I believe that the significance of this study lies in observing, understanding and describing how a teacher's personal knowledge which is experiential, embodied and based on a narrative of experience, is use to plan, to inquire, and develop curriculum for the present and future. Such understanding could provide new ways for thinking about preservice and inservice education for teachers, and for school reform. A research tradition which nourishes teaching and teacher growth, as opposed to any version of teacher training and the technology of teaching, will be, I believe, a worthwhile and valuable contribution (Ch. 2 p. 30).

Beattie's conclusion fits well with the ideas on reflectivity based on the work of Schon and Connelly and Clandinin which are discussed later in the chapter. Teachers should be encouraged to participate in professional development on an ongoing basis. They should take some ownership for their own professional development to ensure that the issues dealt with are supported by on - going, long term support by credible, knowledgeable support people. Change in practice does not occur in a vacuum, collaboration and communication are important elements in facilitating change.

Computer Inservice Training For Teachers

The integration and incorporation of computers into the classroom setting has presented some unique challenges for the teachers involved. The role of the teacher must change from the "giver of knowledge" to one which facilitates learning by others, even though the teacher does not necessarily have all the answers. The most effective strategy for inservice training in the area of computer integration is one in which teachers are supported over a long period of time, by individuals whom the teachers believe are credible.

Classrooms and labs equipped with personal computers are no longer a dream of the future. While providing the necessary number of computers deemed adequate for the educational system is a financial challenge for school divisions, the greater challenge seems to revolve around teachers' feelings about, and ability to, integrate the personal computer into the regular classroom environment. Burkholder (1987) states: "As schools take steps to purchase computers, teachers need to be prepared and trained in order to feel confident and use computers effectively in education." Teachers are used to being in charge and knowing the content of what they teach. They have prepared themselves for their profession by taking several years of university training, and have strived to become comfortable with the curriculum which they are required to implement. Accordingly, Akker, Keursten and Plomp (1988) state:

Teacher's often experience unanticipated problems with their instructional roles. Computers challenge teachers' existing instructional routines by requiring a shift from expository teaching toward a role in which the teacher is more of a partner and guide to the student. Many teachers feel uncomfortable about these changes and therefore try to minimize them. This factor is particularly important because research has shown that the way a teacher integrates computers through his ongoing instructional decisions is critical to the impact of computer use on learners and learner results (p. 70).

The trend towards the introduction of computers into the classroom appears to be a real challenge for many teachers.

The integration of computers may require the teacher to continue to move from the role of "information giver" to that of "facilitator". In order to assist the students in assimilating all the knowledge and information that is being directed towards them, the teacher must be willing and able to teach the students how to access, sort and process the information which is applicable to them at the particular time. About this highly integrated and complex task, and in the context of the previous quotation (Akker Keursten & Plomp, 1988), Mecklenburger (1991) states:

Today's mix of technologies - a reliance on lectures, reading and testing, organized in attendance centers called schools and classrooms and supported fitfully with small quantities of electronic learning- is not optimal for education. Electronic learning must play a more important part in the mix, even at the expense of some customary practices. Today, students and educators alike can create, receive, collect, and share data, text, images, and sounds on a myraid of topics in ways more stimulating, richer, and more timely than ever before - if they have access to the appropriate technology and the ability to use it (p. 108).

However, teachers may find it unnerving to be asked to work with computers when they do not feel comfortable with the technology. Those who are learning to use a computer should be active participants in the learning process. With regard to teacher anxiety, Kathleen Fulton (1988) states:

...inservice training in technology must be sensitive to the concerns of anxieties with which teachers approach the use of technology. A teacher taking a course in other subject areas generally has some experience or background in the topic. But many teachers, especially those who consider themselves "B.C." - before computers - have not yet worked with computers and admit to being "technophobic". (p. 34)

The question needs to be asked; is the technology itself a barrier? Stern (1991) does not believe that the technology is the problem:

Technology per se is not the barrier. Instead, it is our attitude about using technology in schools that is the barrier. Our attitudinal problem is that educators are reluctant to move toward a system that is more technology - intensive and less labor - intensive (p.10). Unfortunately, many schools purchase computers or various forms of technology first and then attempt to make decisions about how they should be used. According to Levinson (1990) "Technology could be used to solve significant (educational) problems, but for change to be effective, the problem should drive the use of the technology" (p.122) and not the other way around. It is essential to focus on and identify the problem to be solved, and not on the introduction of a "new" type of technology which someone may be interested in. Cohen and Brawer (1986) believe that:

If technology is to work within the school context, people in schools cannot perceive it as something that has been imposed. It must be rooted in institution, must be accepted personally, and seen as a way of thinking that demands modification of technology based on results obtained. (p.82)

Grimmett and Erickson (1988) believe that "problem resolution is influenced by inferences drawn from the observed phenomena of past experiences which are tested as the basis for future action" (p.6). Teachers should be actively involved in problem resolution, rather than having a solution imposed from without (Grimmett & Erickson, p. 6). Payne (1983) also believes that if teachers are provided with the opportunity to improve and update their skills in the areas of expressed needs, they will respond favorably and accept the challenge of providing continued excellence in their classrooms (p. 6). She also believes this accepting type of learning environment is best be facilitated when inservice programs meet the needs of the teacher's they serve (p. 2). While these points apply generally to "inservice education" they are made here to indicate that their

4

relevance is particularly important to the topic of computer inservice training.

How does the individual educator find the necessary assistance? While self - motivation probably works well with those who are very interested in computers, how are the others reached? Sachs and Logan (1984) believe that:

As inservicing reaches more reluctant computer users, there may be a greater need for a different type of approach, one that puts less emphasis in the self-motivation of the learner. One will probably have to create material which puts computer application in the context of how computers have a positive effect on the teachers' life with minimum effort on the teachers part (p.47).

Following another aspect of motivation, there is a perception that teachers will respond to the belief that they are partially responsible for the knowledge of the students they teach. As Dickerson and Pritchard (1981) state, "Unless the teacher can command and direct the technology, the students who follow will not be prepared for the demands of a technological society" (p. 9). According to this argument the teacher does not need to have all the answers, but rather be able to facilitate the students accessing the necessary information.

According to Wagschal (1984) the implementation of computer technology into the classroom will be most effective if teachers are involved in the placement and use of the computers:

Decisions regarding the appropriate place of computer technology must be made by individual teachers, because they are the only ones who can sensibly and realistically determine how best to use this new technology to help their students learn. Teachers cannot make such decisions, however, until they have had sufficient hands - on experience with the computers to give them a practical understanding of the potential uses (and abuses) of this new technology (p.253).

Mecklenburger (1990) believes that it is imperative that teachers perceive a need for computers in the classroom, or they will not be used.

Teachers should be allowed a great deal of flexibility and freedom when integrating technology into the classroom. Imposed restrictions on uses of the technology only assist in stifling creative and personal incorporation of technological advancements. Technology should empower the teacher to invent new kinds of educational venues, because much of what we call school curriculum can and will take many diverse paths (p. 107).

In the preceding writing, much emphasis has been placed on teacher characteristics, including articulated needs. The need to develop effective computer related inservice sessions accordingly, has proven to be a challenge for those people involved in trying to teach teachers how new technology can be of benefit in the classroom. Akker, Keursten, and Plomp (1988) reflect that:

A criticism of past inservice approaches is that the emphasis on technical aspects was too strong, while too little attention was being paid to the integration of computer use in the daily classroom practice and also to the skills in selecting and evaluating courseware. Teachers need a strong support to overcome their (initial) problems of uncertainty and their concerns about teacher/student relationships and about accountability (p. 68). There are particular characteristics which seem to increase the effectiveness of computer inservice training. These characteristics include:

- i) an appropriate balance between lecture and guided practice
- ii) detailed curriculum guides and plans for the course
- iii) clear training objectives
- iv) inservice lessons linked to the teachers' own instructional practice
- v) peer interaction including communication during hands on activities
- vi) strategies for teaching heterogeneous groups
- vii) follow up support and guidance.

(Akker, Keursten & Plomp, p. 68)

A framework for inservice education such as the one outlined, would give teachers a comprehensive and practical context within which to contemplate how they could integrate computers into their classrooms. Learning needs to take place within the context of practice, so that direct application of the technology as well as problem solving strategies can be implemented. A teacher must learn how to use the computers effectively, but must also learn some basic 'trouble shooting' strategies which can be drawn upon when there is difficulty. A component of a successful experience with the computers occurs when the "teacher succeeds in an effective lesson execution without major problems and is aware of his own contribution in this respect" (Akker, Keursten & Plomp, p. 71).

The integration of computers into the classroom usually requires a change in practice on the part of the teacher. Fullan

(1982) isolates several characteristics which are influential in facilitating the concept of change and which seem to me to apply particularly well to computers. These characteristics include:

1) Need and Relevance. What is the need for and appropriateness of the change? What is the priority of the efforts to implement the innovation relative to other concerns?

2) Clarity. How clear are the goals and essential features of the innovation? How clear are the practical implications for the users?

3) Complexity. How many components of instructional practice are affected and how much do they differ from existing practices and beliefs? How difficult is it to learn the necessary changes?
4) How well developed and tested are the products? How

certain is the impact of the innovation? What is the trade-off between the actual benefits and the personal and organizational costs? (p. 33)

Weaknesses in one or more of these outlined areas can cause major difficulty when trying to implement a program. Especially when working with computers, teachers need to feel confident that they are being asked to do something that is well thought out, and can begin implementation without too many alterations to the existing program. This includes "adapting to the teacher's level of computer competence and focusing on applications which the teacher can customize or adapt to his or her specialized teaching situation" (Fulton, p.34).

An effective way to assist a teacher in obtaining a comfort level with a computer is to provide a computer for teacher use. Rhodes (1986) feels that the education system is the only institution that provides tools for its clients rather than its
workers (p.14). There is an argument being made for teachers to have the opportunity to become comfortable and confident with computers before being asked to use them in the classroom.

If computers are to be used effectively by the teachers as productivity tools, they must be readily and exclusively available for their use. Locked doors, priority given to student use, inaccessible labs and checkout policies that restrict teacher access discourage teachers' and frustrate attempts to learn more about computing tools (Minnesota State Department of Education (MSDE), p. 13).

Once teachers are more comfortable with the computer and what its capabilities are, then a more informed educated decision about classroom use can be made. "Only when teachers' have learned to use the computer as a tool to enhance their own thinking can they encourage a similar ability in their students" (MSDE p. 9). Decisions regarding the appropriate place of computer technology must be made by individual teachers because they are the ones in the best position to determine how that technology can fit into the daily routine of classroom life. Of course, such decisions cannot be made by teachers who have no experience with the technology (MSDE p. 9).

Unfortunately, short periods of inservice training are not an adequate enough support to assist teachers in their attempt to integrate computers into the classroom. In the following, a more collegial approach to inservice education, specifically in the context of computer is advocated:

Teachers must also be provided with ongoing support which will enable them to obtain assistance and support when needed. Teacher - users of all kinds of technology continually expressed the same needs, that is, the need for sufficient hardware and software during and after inservice, the need for additional time to work with the technology both during and after inservice, the need for experiences which provide substantial peer interaction, and importantly, the need for inservice training personnel who understand the conditions under which the technology will be applied (MSDE p.9).

A teacher request which was received during the study in Minnesota (MSDE) in regards to the use of computers stated "We need someone in our building who will consistently help the novice computer user so he/she becomes familiar. It has to be more than a two hour inservice workshop, given a disk, and said 'go for it'" (p. 12). Teachers' should not be abandoned to fend for themselves once the initial inservice session has been completed.

Meeting the needs of teachers for productive use of technology is like building a four - legged stool with legs of enabling software, appropriate hardware, regular training, and peer support. Shaving the emphasis off one of these legs unbalances the stool and lessens the probability of teachers effectively using the computer as a productivity tool. Removing one of these legs will send the system crashing to the floor. This stool is one essential component needed around the table for restructuring schools and instruction. Teachers properly trained, supported and with access to computer work stations and productivity tools, can maximize their effectiveness. It is important that they be expected to demonstrate productive behavior in the areas of instructional effectiveness, teacher collaboration and staff efficiency (MSDE p. 3).

A critical link in the process of implementing new practices is that of individual and ongoing assistance to teachers in the form of coaching. As Trainor and Fregosi (1986) state: "What better people to teach our teachers than their peers who have a personal and professional interest in our system, who have a sense of the

hardware and software available, and who are keenly aware of our curriculum?" (p. 81) The process must include providing personalized information for specific teacher needs, and facilitating each teachers' use of a new program by solving individual problems, and clarifying any issues which are unclear. By definition, consultation and coaching interventions are directed to individual teachers (Hord & Austin, p. 107).

If teachers are going to integrate computers effectively they need to be given immediate and ongoing support from someone who understands their situation and who can provide resources that meet the demands of the particular situation. The integration of substantive improvement in practice cannot be incorporated into classroom use in one year. The second and third years of implementing a new practice requires as many interventions and as much facilitating and energy as year one (Hord & Austin, p. 112).

The literature seems to be particularly supportive of the idea of follow - up support in the area of computers. Rebecca Clemente (1991) believes that follow - up support may be the single most important factor contributing to the successful implementation of new ideas and materials. Follow - up by her definition means that either trained teachers or the facilitator is on call to help when problems and concerns arise (p.28). She believes that during implementation, the teachers are involved in three critical development stages: i) They are adapting the new ideas or materials to their teaching styles; ii) They are clarifying in their minds and in their practice just what it means to utilize the new ideas or materials; and iii) They have routinized the new idea or materials. This means that the new ideas or materials have become part of their teaching (p.29).

There is no shortcut in facilitating educational change. In order to have effective curriculum development ongoing monitoring and consultation must take place. Genuine change in practice only comes with continued support and intervention to deal with the questions and concerns which will arise as teachers try to answer questions about technology and the impact that it has on the classroom. Fulton (1988) summarizes:

The most crucial factors (that underlie whether of not a teacher adopts technology into the classroom) are time and support - allowing plenty of time and support both in class and afterward to give teacher's the opportunity to develop confidence and competence (p. 34).

The training of teachers to use technology should be a long term and continual process. In arguing for lifelong computer and technology training, the Office of Technology Assessment (OTA) in the United States recommended that innovative inservice programs and follow - up support will require incentives to encourage teachers to stretch beyond their current levels of expertise or to encourage technologically experienced teachers to train colleagues. Fulton (1988) suggests a number of incentives including additional pay, school release time, availability of extra hardware and software, paid time to participate in conferences, engage in computer - related work and finally, increased authority, status, and pay as master or lead teachers in schools (p. 36).

Computer Anxiety

A special problem unique to computer use in schools is that many individuals, including teachers, indicate that they experience anxiety about personal use of the microcomputer. Whether it is a lack of confidence, technical skill, or understanding of the usefulness and place of technology in the classroom, many teachers feel unprepared for what is being requested of them.

Payne, (1982) in a survey of Kentucky teachers, revealed that while there were many microcomputers already in the schools, the teachers had no training in using them and wanted assistance in learning more about them. Payne elaborates:

They (the teachers) also identified many stumbling blocks the greatest of these being anxiety about using them. This fear (anxiety) toward the microcomputer has been referred to by some as "chipophobia". There seems to be an unsettled feeling about sitting in front of a screen touching keys and hoping nothing breaks or that no one jumps out of the screen. Some teachers actually believe it's too difficult and complicated for them to learn about the microcomputer so why bother. If they are tenured teachers they may realize that there will be few implications for their job situation or salary (p.2).

While computer anxiety might be the label given to a lack of interest or desire about using the computers, Yeaman (1992) rejects the idea that people are afraid of breaking them. He argues that people frequently use other highly technical equipment like a dishwasher, television or telephone, and that there is little hesitancy in using these pieces of equipment (p.23). He believes that expressing a fear about breaking the equipment is a front for hiding other feelings.

Expressing a fear of breaking computers could be a mask to hide ignorance. Although it is a way of saying "I do not want to touch that," fear may be neither the underlying motivation nor the intended message. Another interpretation is more plausible. A reversal of the statement could be more valid. Instead of "I am afraid of breaking the computer" the statement can mean "I do not want to be distressed." That sentiment also expresses a complaint, "I don't want to be confused by having to learn something notoriously frustrating" (p. 24).

It is often difficult to identify the exact cause of anxiety when it comes to computers. Burrows and Deibitsky (1984) believe that the root may be in a persons' childhood. The computer appears to make them feel powerless possibly much like they felt as a child trying to cope in a world that they did not understand.

As professionals, and people who often feel that they need to be in control, teachers often have difficulty accepting the notion that it takes time to learn the necessary skills to interact with computer technology. Burrows and Deibitsky (1984) feel that teachers do not like being "challenged by a box", and like it even less when some of their students know more about computers than they do (p.5).

The concepts of instant or immediate gratification and satisfaction play a role in computer confidence. Burrows and Deibitsky (1984) illustrate:

They seem to want to know it all right away. This is no more

possible than with any other tool . . . Somehow intelligent adults either believe they will be able to use computers proficiently in a very short amount of time, or they feel if they can't, they they must be profoundly stupid (p. 3 - 4).

Akker, Keursten and Plomp (1992) remind us that teachers often lack the technical skills in using computers and software. The lack of technical knowledge "often leads to uncertainty, especially when the level of computer familiarization of the teacher is the same as or even lower than that of the students. A consequence of this phenomenon may be that educational computing will be restricted to the limited level of expertise of the teacher" (p. 70). Teachers who feel that they are lacking in technical skills may find the challenges of classroom management and their personal role in the classroom more difficult.

Teacher anxiety about the use of computers may be observed as resistance to change. Ellis (1984) outlines several reasons for teachers and administrators being anxious about the computer technology and implementation. There is a wariness about educational innovation and apprehension to committing large amounts of time and money to new goals, technology and methodology. There is a dependence and security in continuing with the 'tried and true'. Akker, Keursten and Plomp (1992) support Ellis' claims. They conclude that "the major barrier for computer use is that it is unclear for teachers how the potential contribution of computer use can outweigh the costs involved" (p. 71).

Computer anxiety may be an excellent current example of what perhaps may be the most significant barrier to implementation of any educational innovation, namely teacher resistance to change. Ellis (1984) summarizes;

Teachers want to know: "How is this change going to affect me? Will this change require me to change behaviors that have proven effectiveness? Will I be replaced by the computer?" Educational computing has the potential to restructure the way we teach. Some teachers and schools will welcome the new innovation and adapt easily. Others will resist. However, if educators are to fulfill their responsibilities, they will not only have to adapt to the requirements of the information society, but also assist all citizens in making the transition (p.204).

Yeaman (1992) places the learning and use of computers within a social context. He believes that the problem is not a fear of computers and for assistance to change, but a lack of questioning about the usefulness of computers (p.27). It is important that we ask what the cultural and social implications of computer usage might be.

More important than promoting the use of computers in education is understanding the constant social agenda for "improving" education, the long term relationship between teachers and machines, and the de-skilling and standardizing threats of educational technology. Computerism teaches people they are helpless. The myths of computer anxiety make people ineffective and incapable by prescribing special lessons to overcome alleged ineffectiveness and incapacity. Teaching instructors and students they are computer anxious, helpless and need remediation may be an act of oppression. It may be oppressive not only against instructors but against their future students as well. Educators need awareness of this social context (p. 28). Olson (1990) supports the idea of teachers and the larger school system itself examining the role that they expect computers to play. He reminds educators that one must come to terms with the use of technology in the classroom.

...It is valuable to reflect on practice in relation to its institutional setting and why teachers must become alert to the ways in which the institutions of schooling can undermine their own practice. Thinking critically about those conflicts is a way to improve practice itself and build valid institutions in which practice can improve. Reflecting on practice aids in developing good schools through ethically justified innovation. This is the link between research on teacher thinking and the process of innovation that ought to be made (p. 78).

Theoretical Framework

Much of the work already reviewed in this chapter implies or suggests that a more relevant and socially interactive form of activity is needed to promote computer integration in the schools. Accordingly, many authors' work could be reviewed when attempting to outline the methodological framework for this study. The two primary sources which will be referred to are the works of Donald Schon, as well as those of F. Michael Connelly and D. Jean Clandinin. These sources will be reviewed for their perspective on how practitioners view the events around them, and how they attempt to make sense of the problems which arise during the course of their personal and professional lives.

Schon's Reflective Practice

Donald Schon's concept of reflection has its roots in John Dewey's book <u>How We Think</u> (1933). Dewey differentiates between reflective thinking and other forms of thought by two characteristics: 1) A state of doubt or hesitation in which thinking originates in the practice situation, and 2) An act of inquiring to find material that will resolve the doubt and do away with the unsettledness of an issue (p. 14).

In the suspense of uncertainty, we metaphorically climb a tree, we try to find some standpoint from which we may survey additional facts and, getting a more commanding view of the situation, decide how the facts stand related to one another . . . Thinking is not a case of spontaneous combustion; it does not occur just on "general principles." There is something that occasions or evades it (pp. 14 - 15).

Dewey cautions however, that any "conclusions" which are arrived at are not indeed, conclusive, and warrant further examination by:

The active, persistent, and careful consideration of any belief or supposed form of knowledge in light of the grounds that support it and the further conclusions to which it tends . . . once begun, it includes a conscious and voluntary effort to establish belief upon a firm basis of evidence and rationality (p. 9).

While information or questions about a specific situation do not necessarily supply the solution to the given problem, these might give some suggestion as to which course of action should be taken:

Clearly, past experience is a fund of relevant knowledge at one's command. If the person has had some acquaintance with similar situations, if he has dealt with material of the same sort before, suggestions more of less apt and helpful will arise. But unless there has been some analogous experience, confusion remains mere confusion (Dewey, pp. 15 - 16).

A person commonly relies on the information which has been processed and understood about past experiences, and that information becomes the springboard for contemplating a new situation. If a person has had no experience which is believed to be somewhat comparable, sorting out the situation becomes more difficult (Dewey, 1933).

Donald Schon, (1983) in his book <u>The Reflective Practitioner</u>: <u>How Professionals Think In Action</u>, draws heavily on Dewey, but places the concept of reflective thinking into a broader professional context. He believes that "professionals have been loudly critical of their own failure to solve society's problems, to keep from creating new problems, and to meet reasonable standards of competence in their service to clients" (p. 12). He brings to the foreground the difficulty experienced by many professionals, and creates a framework and a common language in which dialogue about these dilemmas can occur.

Schon argues for a particular view of professional practice which he refers to as the model of Technical Rationality.

Computer Integration 38

According to the model of Technical Rationality - the view of professional knowledge which has most powerfully shaped both our thinking about the professions and the institutional relations of research education and practice - professional activity consists in instrumental problem solving made rigorous by the application of scientific theory and technique. Although all occupations are concerned, on this view, with the instrumental adjustment of means to ends, only the professions practice rigorously technical problem solving based on specialized scientific knowledge (pp. 21 - 22).

Schon says that professional knowledge is generally viewed along these lines:

1) Underlying discipline or basic scientific component on which practice rests.

2) "Applied Science" or "engineering" component from which many of the day to day diagnostic procedures and problem solutions are derived.

3) Skills and attitudinal component which uses underlying basic and applied knowledge (p. 24).

These strands seem to provide the framework from which problems could be explored, yet such a 'scientific' and structured way of approaching a problem leaves little room for the reflections of a practitioner. Herein according to Schon, lies the tension between the 'theoretical' and 'real' worlds. From the point of view of Technical Rationality:

Real knowledge lies in the theories and technology of basic and applied science. Skills in the *use* (italics added) of theory and technology to solve concrete problems should come later on, when the student has learned the relevant science first, because he cannot learn skills of application until he has learned applicable knowledge and secondly, because skills are an ambiguous, secondary kind of knowledge (p. 27). Schon (1983) however, describes reality like this: "In the real world practice, problems do not present themselves to the practitioner as givens. They must be constructed from materials of problem situations, which are puzzling, troubling and uncertain" (p. 40). The practitioner must struggle with and ponder the situation with which they are dealing. As the problem is examined, some practitioners construct and reconstruct their world in search of better understandings. Another way of phrasing the same concept is "problem setting is a process in which, interactively, we name the things to which we could attend and <u>frame</u> the context in which we attend to them" (p.40).

Schon argues against Technical Rationality and for reflective practice in the professions on these grounds.

Technical Rationality depends on agreement about ends. When ends are fixed and clear, then the decision to act can present itself as an instrumental problem, but when ends are confused and conflicting there is as yet not a "problem" to solve. A conflict of ends cannot be resolved by the use of technology derived from applied research. It is rather through the nontechnical process of framing the problem situation that we may organize and clarify both the ends to be achieved and the problem means of achieving them" (p.41).

It is the blending of theory and practice which allows a practitioner to make sense of real life situations. Schon (1983) argues that a technical description of a practice cannot account for the "craft" and "artistry" sometimes displayed in the work of practitioners (pp. 48 - 49). There is an element of uniqueness

Computer Integration 40

which some professionals possess and employ when dealing with new situations and problems. This uniqueness allows them to draw on past experiences and make practical applications of the theoretical knowledge which they possess.

Knowing - In - Action

Schon develops the concept of knowing - in - action to refer to the spontaneous, and intuitive awareness that practitioners bring to their work. The notion of carrying out a sequence of actions apparently without having to think about the sequence is of great importance.

When we go about the spontaneous, intuitive performance of the actions of everyday life, we show ourselves to be knowledgeable in a special way. Often we cannot say what it is that we know. When we try to describe it we find ourselves at a loss, or we produce descriptions that are obviously inappropriate. Our knowing is ordinarily tacit, implicit in our patterns of action and in our feel for the stuff with which we are dealing. It seems right to say that our knowing is <u>in</u> our action (p. 49).

MacKinnon (1989) summarizes the importance that Schon places on "knowing" and supports Schon's argument against a kind of "Technical Rationality":

.... for Schon, the existence and importance of 'knowing how' is central to the matter of learning a practice. This is not to say that 'learning by doing' without analysis is a substitute for 'learning by doing' with a theory. Rather, it is to say that 'learning by doing' mitigates some of the difficulties that arise when a practitioner is unable to articulate and analyze competent performance. Certainly, intuitive actions are subject to thoughtful consideration and further articulation and understanding. The point is however, that the reverse is not the case: intelligent performance does not follow automatically from knowing a set of procedures or maxims that govern it (p.100).

The meaning of a situation unfolds gradually to a practitioner, usually in the context of working with, and then thinking about the situation. Schon (1983) writes: "When a practitioner reflects in and on his practice, the possible objectives of his reflections are as varied as the kinds of phenomena before him and the systems of knowledge in practice which he brings to them" (p. 62).

Reframing

According to Schon, one's ability to carry out a sequence of actions may not depend on the description of the sequence. More importance is placed on one's ability to recognize patterns in uncertain and unique situations and then having the wisdom to frame them wisely. In doing this, one is drawing on a repertoire of past experiences and ways of understanding those experiences, both of which lead to an ability to reframe problems in the light of the information received from the the actual situation. Schon refers to these processes as "reflection - in and on - action," which is like a reflective conversation that takes place between a practitioner and an uncertain situation. "Reflection - in and on - action is the mechanism which permits practitioners to continue to develop a rich repertoire of strategies and ways of making sense of experiences that, ultimately, accounts for their competence in dealing with the "messy" problems of practice" (MacKinnon, 1989, p. 101).

Problem - setting and problem - solving are the strands involved in reflection - in and on - action. The central focus of reflection - in action is in tacitly, or unconsciously naming the things that one wishes to attend to and framing (settings the bounds) to which one will attend to in the "messy" practice situations. Reframing occurs when the practitioner reconstructs the problem with a new perspective, giving new meaning to particular components of the practice situation, or bringing to the forefront other features which appear to be relevant. Reframing is a new way of seeing a phenomenon. This process is a complex one which involves active construction and reconstruction of explanations of a practice situation, as well as considering and reconsidering implications for further practice.

In order to see what can be made to follow from this reframing of the situation, each practitioner tries to accept the situation to be framed. This he does through a web of moves. Within the larger web, individual moves yield phenomena to be understood, problems to be solved, or opportunities to be exploited (Schon, 1983 p. 131).

This deciphering continues its evolutionary process as further thought is given to the problem.

In reflective conversation, the practitioner's efforts to solve the reframed problem yields new discoveries which call for new reflection - in - action. The process spirals through stages of appreciation, action, and reappreciation. The unique and uncertain situation comes to be understood through the attempt to change it, and changed through the attempt to understand it (Schon, 1983, p. 132) The concept of spiraling is integral to the naming and framing process. It is through the continual thinking, rethinking, and evaluation of what is going on in a particular situation which drives the practitioner to redesign and contemplate a variety of strategies. In Schon's (1983) words: "When a practitioner sees a new situation as some element of his repertoire, he gets a new way of setting it and a new possibility for action in it, but the adequacy and utility of this new view must still be discovered in action" (p. 141).

It is important to note that a practice context differs considerably from a research context. In a research context the practitioner is free to contemplate whatever possibilities come to mind with less consideration for the implications of outcome. In real world practice, all the information pertaining to the situation needs to be considered, organized, reorganized, and then action taken which is deemed appropriate for the situation. Schon (1983) states:

The inquirer's relation to this situation is transactional. He shapes the situation, but in conversation with it, so that his own models and appreciations are also shaped by this situation. The phenomena that he seeks to understand are partly of his own making, he is in the situation that he seeks to understand (p.150).

The meaning - making often happens intuitively, and at a subconscious level. This involves making on the spot adjustments to practice in action, which does not necessarily require verbal dialogue at the time of intervention. Spontaneous action can be influenced by what we have done in previous situations as we contemplate what we are about to do in a new situation. The reframing which occurs allows us to make educated decisions about an event, and use that information to plan further action. The danger it appears would be in the temptation to accept a plan of action for a new situation too quickly, without carefully (including tacitly) examining all the possibilities and variables.

Reflection - On - Action

Reflection - on - action includes a conscious reconstruction of what has occurred during a practice situation. Schon appears to believe that many practice situations do not completely eliminate the possibility of thinking while one is engaged in a task as indicated by reflection - in - action.

There are indeed times when it is dangerous to stop and think. On the firing line, in the midst of traffic, even on the playing field, there is a need for immediate, on-line response, and the failure to deliver it can have serious consequences. But not all practice situations are of this sort. The action - present (the period of time in which we remain in the "same situation") varies greatly from case to case, and in many cases there is time to think what we are doing. Consider, for example, a physician's management of a patient's disease, a lawyer's preparation of a brief, a teacher's handling of a difficult student (p. 278).

The concept of conscious restructuring provides the opportunity for deliberate and focussed thinking and rethinking of a situation. Often a practitioner has more time to do such thinking and may be said to be in greater control than during reflection - in - action.

When naming and framing a problem, it is important to realize that the way in which one views a particular situation may have to be revised as more information is obtained. The practitioner should not be afraid of this process, but rather view it as a opportunity for learning.

There is the recognition that one's expertise is a way of looking at something which was once constructed and may be reconstructed, and there is both readiness and competence to explore its meaning in the experience of the client. The reflective practitioner tries to discover the limits of his expertise through reflective conversation with the client (p. 296).

There must be a recognition of the fact that the spiral of learning continues even after the situation draws to an immediate conclusion. The naming and framing which occurs in one situation will possibly be drawn on during a subsequent practice situation.

Within the context of research, it is important that the dialogue between "practitioner" and "researcher" be an ongoing process which is respected by both parties. Reflection - in - action is a difficult process for a teacher to engage in. The isolation of most classrooms is actually a deterrent to the process. Schon (1983) believes that "in order to broaden and deepen their capacity for reflection - in - action, professional practitioners must discover and restructure the interpersonal theories of action which they bring to their professional lives" (p. 353). A focus on reflection as a primary way of making sense of situations is necessary in order for reflection-in action to become a common and immediate response. "The extent of our capacity for reciprocal reflection - in -

action can be discovered only through an action science which seeks to make what some of us do on rare occasions into a dominant pattern of practice" (p. 354). Teachers and researchers alike must support each other in the quest for increased understanding of what occurs in the classroom.

Summary

Donald Schon highlights several components which are fundamentally important in this study. Knowing - in - action gives credence to the idea that there are times that a person 'just acts' and does not spend a large amount of time reflecting on the immediate information and data which is available. After a situation has occurred and a person has an opportunity to reflect, new ideas and conclusions may be drawn. The opportunity for reflection - on - action provides the context in which new learning can occur. The possibility of expanding one's understanding about a situation is exciting, and provides further knowledge from which ideas and information can be drawn from at a later time. This type of thinking leads to the naming, framing, and reframing of how a person perceives a particular situation based on the information and knowledge available at the time. It is through naming and framing, which can result in a spiral of learning, that a person can expand his or her comprehension of a particular situation, as well as a better understanding of how the information fits into the wider scope of theoretical knowledge.

Narrative Inquiry

The final section of the Literature Review will focus on the concept of Narrative Inquiry as described by D. Jean Clandinin and F. Michael Connelly. The review of some of their writings will focus on the concept of narrative inquiry, and several important facets which are brought to the forefront as a result of the narrative context. These include the importance of collaboration, narrative unity, the differences between Donald Schon's work and that of Connelly and Clandinin, as well as the similarities and differences between biographies, autobiographies, and narrative inquiry.

By its very nature, narrative is a complex, involved concept with many dimensions. To begin with, the study of narrative is primarily epistemological, but has deviated from epistemology by focusing on personal experience rather than upon reconstructed formal logic. In the study of teaching, narrative focuses primarily on reconstructing classroom meaning in terms of narrative unities (to be elaborated on later) in the lives of classroom participants (Connelly & Clandinin, 1987, p.130). A person's experience, or story is not examined in isolation of the events surrounding it, but rather within the confines and breadth of a larger situation. Lifes' narratives are the context for making meaning of school situations (Connelly & Clandinin, 1989, p.3). These narratives are imperative for continued insight into teacher-learning situations.

Importance of Collaboration:

Central to the development of narrative inquiry is the concept of collaboration.

... Collaborative research constitutes a relationship. In everyday life, the idea of friendship implies a sharing, an interpenetration of two or more persons' spheres of experience. Mere contact is acquaintanceship, not friendship. The same may be said for collaborative research which requires a close relationship akin to friendship (Clandinin & Connelly, 1988, p. 281).

Narrative inquiry cannot occur if the parties involved do not develop a close and trusting relationship. The very nature of the narrative requires that the teacher - researcher and the teacher - practitioner have a closeness which may be less common in a more conventional study.

When viewed in the context of research, it is important that the researcher listen first to the practitioner's story, that it is the practitioner who first tells his/her story. This does not mean that the researcher is silenced in the process of narrative inquiry. It does mean that the practitioner, who has long been silenced in the research relationship, is given the time and space to tell her/his story so that it too gains the authority and validity that the research story has long had (Clandinin & Connelly, 1989, p. 6).

The intertwining of two peoples' stories allows both to have a voice.

Multiple Levels of Meaning

When attempting to work through the many dimensions of narrative inquiry, one must be cognizant of the fact that there are multiple levels of meaning which one must be aware of. A person must have:

... an understanding of the process as one in which we are continually trying to give an account of the multiple levels (which are temporally continuous and socially interactive) at which the inquiry proceeds. The central task is evident when it is grasped that a person is both living their stories in an ongoing experiential text and telling their stories in words as they reflect upon life and explain themselves to others. For the researcher, this is a portion on the complexity of the narrative since a life is also a matter of growth toward an imagined future and, therefore, involves retelling stories and attempts at reliving stories. A person is, at once, then engaged in living, telling, retelling, and reliving stories (Clandinin & Connelly, 1989, p. 7).

The many layers and dimensions of the narrative process are a real challenge to the researcher, as there is need to 'make sense' of the information one has, and to be able to communicate that information to both the participant and the reading audience.

The researcher cannot merely stand back and remove himself from the situation, but also becomes part of the process.

Seeing and describing story in the everyday actions of teachers, students, administrators and others requires a subtle twist of mind on behalf of the enquirer. It is in the tellings and retellings that entanglements become acute for it is here that temporal and social/cultural horizons are set and reset. . . When one engages in narrative inquiry the process becomes even more complex for, as researchers we become

part of the process. The two narratives of participant and researcher become, in part, a shared narrative construction and reconstruction through the inquiry (Clandinin & Connelly, 1989, p. 7).

Connelly and Clandinin coin the phrase "narrative unity", which according to them, provides a comprehensive description of what narrative involves.

What we mean by (narrative) unity is the union in a particular person in a particular place and time of all that the person has been and undergone in the past and in the past of the tradition which helped to shape the person. The notion of narrative unity is not merely a description of a person's history but is a meaning - giving account, an interpretation of one's history and as such provides a way of understanding the experiential knowledge of classroom participants. . . . The notion of narrative unity allows us the possibility of imagining the living out of a narrative as well as the revision of ongoing narrative unities and the creation of new ones. It is in this way that we frame our understanding of how classroom participants know, and come to know, their situations (Connelly & Clandinin, 1987, p. 131).

The collaborative nature of the inquiry process demands that there is a mutual dependence of the enquirer and the participant. The researcher must also become vulnerable rather than remaining aloof, in order for the narrative to truly express the interplay of the events, thoughts and emotions brought forth in the narrative experience.

Before proceeding any further, it is important to place the concept of narrative inquiry in somewhat of a philosophical perspective. Connelly and Clandinin (1987) have attempted to provide some philosophical perspective particularly as it relates to the the work of Donald Schon, (1987) and his book <u>The Reflective</u> <u>Practitioner</u>. It is here that they contrast their concept of narrative inquiry with Schon's concepts of reflection.

There are some similarities between the work of Schon and Connelly and Clandinin. Schon's key term of reflection - in - action, involving a particular set of assumptions, or a "frame", has some commonality with some of the terms which are used in narrative inquiry. Terms such as 'personal philosophy', 'narrative unity', and 'rhythm', are common when discussing the narrative process. Both 'reflection - in - action' and 'narrative inquiry' focus on the analysis of theory in terms of practice rather than practice in terms of theory. As Connelly and Clandinin (1987) state:" 'summaries', 'averages' and 'means' are not the ideational end. The specific event, and the theoretical repertoire required to account for it, is the intended end" (p.131).

While there are some commonalties between reflection - in action and narrative inquiry, there are some definite differences as well. Schon creates a definition of practical rationality in terms of observed actions (p. 132). Narrative does the same thing, but does it by accounting for the teaching and learning action in terms of the participants' history, which may be shown to bear upon observed classroom events (Connelly & Clandinin, 1987, p.132). Schon does not place the same emphasis on the historical journey of the participant. Connelly and Clandinin (1987) outline the similarities and differences between narrative inquiry and the writing of biographies and autobiographies. Narrative inquiry does share some similarities with biographies and autobiographies.

Narrative is concerned with specific, concrete events in a person's life and is concerned to give an account of a person. Furthermore, through the construction of personal philosophies, images and narrative unities, narrative method offers an interpretive reconstruction of parts of a person's life. It is a study which is historical, factual, causal in an interpretive sense, and designed to reveal what is meaningful in a person's history for purposes of understanding classroom actions (p. 134).

On the surface it would be relatively simple to make a blanket comparison and determine that the two forms were the same. But, these similarities do not make narrative method a biography.

"The study of narrative exhibits a sense of unity in a person's history not seen in the biographical or autobiographical work" (Connelly & Clandinin, 1987 p. 135). Rather, biographies, and autobiographies involve the confrontation of events or circumstance which refuse to agree with the personal knowledge given by the person, from past events or circumstances. Narrative also focuses on the person's past experiences but Connelly and Clandinin, (1985) argue that "the reconstructions that occur in the act of research lead to changes in practice. That is, research itself is an act of school reform quite apart from any possible uses of the products of research" (p. 130). Narrative is concerned with the everyday, mundane events which occur as part of school, even though some of the events may appear to be problematic to the person. In narrative

the researcher and participant enter into a close collaborative relationship with each other, while in biographies and autobiographies the researcher is removed from the process.

The emphasis on personal knowledge illustrates one of the primary differences between narrative and biography.

The primary focus in autobiography and biography ... is on method. For both cases, the purpose of the method is to reveal something about individual persons. In both cases, the proximate ends are set in terms of long-term ends, social reconstruction and evaluation of educational experience respectively. But the burden of the writing is on method. ... In contrast, the emphasis in narrative, at least as defined in the study of personal practical knowledge, is on how people know classrooms. Method is subsidiary (Connelly & Clandinin, 1987, p.136).

The greatest and most important differences between narrative and biography have to do with research purposes.

The methods of biography and autobiography, are used primarily for personal reflection. While narrative has this quality because of its collaborative method, its ultimate purpose is to develop an understanding of the teaching process more generally and to develop a language of classrooms tied to the emotional, moral and aesthetic character of classroom life. Reflection - in - action, while aiming at general terminology, does so in a depersonalized way. Whereas the claims of biography and narrative are personal in character, those of reflection - in - action are cognitive (Connelly & Clandinin 1987, p. 136).

It is the desire to help a practitioner to understand her/his perspective and the teaching process in a more comprehensive and personal way, drawing on the thoughts, feelings, and questions of the teachers involved which sets narrative inquiry apart from other forms of study. Such an understanding, and changes in understanding which come about through narrative inquiry, is what is hypothesized to lead to teacher growth and indeed to school reform.

Summary

Donald Schon as well as Connelly and Clandinin have a strong basis to support their particular styles of study and research. While Schon focuses on reflection - on and in - action of classroom events quite directly, Connelly and Clandinin put greater emphasis on the effect of cultural milieu in developing a practical perspective and explaining the changes, (including new forms of classroom action) which result from the inquiry process. A search for such perspective is often made in the broader perspective of one's life history. It is the indepth study of a number of personal experiences, often embedded in "stories", which set narrative inquiry apart from other forms of research. These personal studies take into account the more mundane aspects of classroom life, as well as giving value to the less tangible information cues like a teachers' thoughts, reflections and emotions. Reconstruction of teacher perspective is common to both research orientations and is at the heart of teacher change and school reform more generally.

Chapter Three

Methodology

The purpose of this chapter is to discuss in general the research methodology used in this study, and the framework in which it is used. The chapter includes two sections, the first one focuses on the research perspective which frames the study. The second section provides a listing and explanation of the investigator's research activities.

Conceptual Framework

The study is framed within the structure of narrative inquiry which provides an appropriate context in which to examine a person's experiences, thoughts, intentions, and reflective activity. F. Michael Connelly and D. Jean Clandinin (1988) define narrative inquiry as "the study of how humans make meaning of experience by endlessly telling and retelling stories about themselves that both refigure the past and create purpose in the future" (p.24). This type of storying becomes the vehicle by which issues come to light and can be further explored. The restorying, or restructuring provides an individual with the opportunity to examine an issue from a new perspective, thereby facilitating the possibility of alternative interpretations being considered. These new interpretations, or new meanings, may at least in part be called learning. The study combines the narrative inquiry perspective detailed by Connelly and Clandinin with the more focussed type of reflectivity advocated and outlined by Donald Schon. The blending of the two perspectives provides a rich framework within which the guiding questions of the study may be examined.

Thus while narrative inquiry provides a framework in which to explore a person's past and present experiences, thoughts and intentions leading to new meanings, Schon's ideas on reflection and "educating practitioners" provide an additional framework or focus which helps to emphasize the need to examine reflective activity in the context of a more conscious, more deliberate, and indeed more limited active search for improved teaching practice. Grimmett and Erickson (1988) summarize Schon's perspective on the concept of reflection. They refer to the need for reflection - in - action as well as reflection - on - action. Both types of reflection involve an attempt to identify and give meaning to problem areas. Schon (1983) states the following about examining a problem:

In real world practice, problems do not present themselves to the practitioner as givens. They must be constructed from the materials or problematic situations that are puzzling, troubling and uncertain. . . When we set the problem, we select what we will treat as the "things" of the situation, we set the boundaries of our attention to it, and we impose upon it a coherence which allows us to say what is wrong and in what directions the situation needs to be changed. Problem setting is a process in which, interactively, we *name* the things to which we will attend and *frame* the context in which we will attend to them (p.40) (Emphasis in original). Thus in the present study, the naming and framing allowed the teacher - researcher and teacher - practitioner to focus on problems which they themselves deemed relevant and which they saw as manageable within the framework of their roles as practitioners. The "narrative" framework meanwhile, provided a way of broadening the reflective process beyond problems deliberately constructed from practice to include more diverse, often less obvious experience and subject these to reflective activity as well.

Collaboration, related as it is to reflection, is a necessary component which occurs within narrative inquiry. Thus collaboration assists with the construction of problems (in the Schonian sense) by helping participants to "name" and "frame" such problems, and to help construct and identify personal responses to their situations. In the context of narrative inquiry, the full range of Schon's reflective activity occurs in a more natural way as participants live their personal and professional lives and express themselves and their lives through concrete instances and experiences, often reported in anecdotal form. Both the researcher and the participant entered into the process of constructing meaning Since everyday experience including that from / in this context. embodied in rhythm and habit for example, may be held up to scrutiny, collaboration is an important part of the process because another persons perspective may help bring out something which may have remained outside the realm of conscious reflections by the other. Once meaning is made by either party, it helps the other person to further reframe / restory as meaning - making, and thus the learning continues. The collaborative nature of this type of

research process is one in which all participants see themselves as participants in the community which has value for both researcher and practitioner, theory and practice. (Clandinin & Connelly, 1990)

This reflective process provided both the researcher and the participant with 'voice' and validity to think about the events that occurred and were then reflected upon. Connelly and Clandinin (1990) view this process as 'living the story'.

(Narrative inquiry) is an understanding of the process as one in which we are continually trying to give an account of the multiple levels (which are temporally continuous and socially interactive) at which the inquiry proceeds. The central task is evident when it is grasped that a person is both living their stories in an ongoing experiential text and telling their stories in words as they reflect upon life and explain themselves to others. For the researcher, this is a portion of the complexity of narrative since a life is also a matter of growth toward an imagined future, and therefore, involves retelling stories and attempts at reliving stories. A person is, at once, then, engaged in living, telling, retelling, and reliving stories (p. 6).

This approach to research moves away from the notion that practice must follow the direction that is first established by theoretical foundations, but rather begins in experience, and flows out of a reciprocal, dialectic relationship (Wood 1990). The framework is also consistent with a view of professional development which views practitioners as active agents in their own professional development, albeit with the supportive help of others.

Together the teacher - participant and the teacher researcher examined issues which arose when integrating computers into the regular classroom routine. Through a mutually reflective process set in the context of the theoretical framework described, we learned more about our own teaching and personal understanding of what dealing with possible computer anxiety, computer integration in the classroom, as well as building effective support mechanisms. As we collaboratively explored the dynamics of classroom computer integration, we attempted to give meaning to the combined experiences of the teacher - participant and the teacher - researcher.

At the conclusion of this study, I anticipate that the participant and I, in agreement with Connelly and Clandinin (1990), and consistent with the questions I have generated, will be able to:

... return to present and future considerations and ask what the meaning of the event is for them and how they might create a new story of self which changes the meaning of the event, its description, and its significance for the larger life story the person may be trying to live (p.20).

This continuing spiral of rethinking and reflection are necessary components in facilitating personal growth and possible change in action.

Research Procedures

An outline of the research activities employed is given to provide an overview of the study. The overview will include comments on the need for the study, selection of the participant, school composition and computer facilities, timetabling, and the teacher - researcher's role in the school.

Selection of Participant

The teacher selected for the study, who will be referred to as Lee, (or L.S. at times in quotes and citations) is someone concerned with the implication of and need for computer integration in the classroom. She is interested in developing her own teaching skills. Lee had a basic understanding of the hardware and software involved, and was attempting to have her students participate in activities which would provide them with a greater comfort level with the computer, as well as be able to complete some of their assignments using the computer. The participant's willingness to discuss ideas, problems and solutions in regard to the use of computers made her an excellent choice.

School Setting

The setting for this study is an elementary school with a population of 450 - 500 students. It is located in a suburb of Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada. The catchment area consists of a diverse range of economic backgrounds, with the students also coming from a variety of cultural and social backgrounds. Almost one quarter of the school population is made up of English as a Second Language (ESL) students. The grade taught by the teacher - participant (Lee) was Grade Four.

School Facilities

The school in which the study took place had three classes of each grade level with Grade Six being the exception with only two Each classroom at the grades four to six level has three classes. Macintosh computers in the classroom. Every grade has an 'Image Writer' printer somewhere in the area for immediate use. The school also contains a Macintosh "Lab", which has sixteen Macintosh computers, two Image Writer printers, the Server, an overhead projector and a data projection unit. The lab is organized into two long rows of computer tables back to back with eight computers down each side. Four computers are situated at the back of the lab, each on individual tables. The Server and the printers are against the same wall as the four free - standing computers. The data projection unit, more commonly referred to as the 'Data Show' is situated among the two rows of computers. The 'Data Show' projects what is on the screen of the SE Macintosh computer onto an overhead screen hanging in the Lab. A teacher can visually guide students through components of a program, or demonstrate specific skills and the students in the lab can either watch, or follow along with their computers, depending of the desire of the teacher. The Lab also contains enough large tables and chairs for at least half of a class to have comfortable work space if not working on the computers.

The school involved is known in the Division for its creative teachers and their involvement in a wide range of activities which provide the students with many experiences not found in every

Computer Integration 62

school. The staff struggles yearly with trying to prioritize the nature and extent of commitments for the student body, while trying to be fair to the staff members themselves in regard of workload and time away from 'regular' curriculum instruction.

Timetable

Each classroom teacher in Grades Four through Six had the opportunity to book four thirty-five minute slots in the Macintosh Lab per six day cycle. The teacher had the choice of whether or not these would be individual slots, or back to back resulting in a seventy minute block. There was an understanding among the teachers using the lab that there were a few unscheduled slots that could be booked as the need arose. As well, there was flexibility which allowed for someone who was working on a special project to ask someone for permission to use their regularly scheduled slots for a cycle or two. Lee had chosen one set of back to back slots, and two individual slots scheduled in a six - day cycle. She chose this configuration of slots because she believed that it was more effective and versatile to be able to take her entire class into the Lab for an extended period of time. This provided better opportunity for teaching time as well as working time for all her students while in the lab. The two individual slots were Day 5, from 10:30 am to 11:10 am, and Day 2 from 3:10 pm until 3:45 pm.
Researcher's Role In School

The researcher was a member of a Divisional leadership committee (Knowledge Builder Instructional Training Team, KBITT) which was exploring how best to support classroom teachers in their attempt to use the Knowledge Builder program and the Macintosh computers in the classroom. Each of the committee members was trying to assist teachers in their particular building to increase the skills which they possessed with the Knowledge Builder program and the Macintosh computers. The committee was in its second year of existence, but was disbanded before the end of the 1992 - 1993 school year because the Division chose to pursue a different focus with the computers.

The school that the researcher taught in supported the use of the Knowledge Builder program by providing the teacher - researcher with two preparation classes per cycle available to go into classrooms and/or help teachers learn more about the computers and how they could be integrated into the regular classroom. Prior to the study beginning the teacher - researcher and Lee discussed the possibility of the researcher spending a regularly scheduled time in the Lab with Lee and her Grade Four class. Through the process of comparing and juggling timetables, it was agreed that the researcher would come into the Lab with Lee's class every Day Two from 3:10 pm. until 3:45 pm. It was the only time which would work when comparing the two teachers' timetables with the regular Lab timetable. Discussion about the limitations imposed by the time of day chosen will be discussed at further length later in the study

Design and Procedure

The following is an outline of the design and procedures of the study as it progressed.

Overview of Design

- 1. Initial Discussion
- 2. Beginning the study; Determination of initial conception of teaching and of the role of the computer in the classroom.
- 3. Inservice sessions
- 4. Pre / Post Conferences
- 5. Classroom participation / Observations
- 6. Data collection / Collation
- 7. Data analysis / Feedback
- 8. Themes identified / Interpretations
- 9. Limitations

Initial Discussion

Following the clearance of the Ethics Committee of the University of Manitoba, the researcher and Lee held an initial discussion about the study. The discussion included some initial questions by the researcher, as well as an opportunity for both people to discuss the study and discuss any questions which needed answering. The meeting, which took place in a local restaurant, became so lengthy that a second meeting was held at school over the lunch hour the following week. The researcher took notes during the discussion which were later transcribed and given to the participant to review. The initial meetings provided the opportunity to gain more information about the participant and outline the requirements of the study. Since the teacher - researcher was already working with Lee and her class on a regular basis, it was decided that the already established pattern would continue. As previously mentioned, the researcher was in the Macintosh Lab with Lee's class one sixty minute slot per six day cycle. The role that the researcher played during that class varied, depending on the objectives Lee wanted to meet.

The initial discussions provided the opportunity to glean some of Lee's thoughts and feelings about the computers since they were first introduced into the school. It became clear that Lee had shown an interest in computers long before the Macintosh computers were introduced into the school. This information will be elaborated on further in Chapter Four.

Beginning the Study

Since the researcher was continuing with an already established routine when participating with Lee's class, there was no need to have a familiarization period for the class to become used to the researcher being in the Lab setting with them. The study was formally begun at the end of January 1993, after the initial discussions had taken place, and when the participant felt comfortable with beginning. The researcher and Lee discussed what Lee thought and felt when trying to incorporate the use of computers into regular work. Lee expressed an interest in learning more about particular components of the software program, and how they could be used by students. These interests became the focus for lessons during subsequent computer classes with her students, or inservice times with staff members.

Inservice Sessions

The teacher - researcher had been holding noon - hour inservice sessions for interested staff in her school for the past year. The purpose of these sessions was to provide the staff with an "in house" inservice opportunity where they could learn more about the hardware and software without having to leave the school.

While the concept has merit on paper, there were numerous difficulties which were experienced while trying to accomplish this. Since the sessions were held at lunch hour, there were continual conflicts with other committee meetings being held in the school. As previously mentioned, this particular school is very involved in providing unique opportunities for students, which are proceeded by numerous planning meetings. Also, the unique makeup of the student body population in terms of its ESL population, diverse cultural mix, and the demand for special needs programming took up many teachers' time over the lunch hour on a regular basis.

As the school year progressed and the pressure of the classroom and extension activities grew, it became increasingly clear that the computer inservice sessions were not a top priority for the staff who had initially indicated interest in participating. As a result, many in the group (which potentially numbered around 10) asked for the session schedule to be changed in order to accommodate something else, and when the new date was nearing, the meeting often had to be rescheduled again. Since teacher participation in these sessions was strictly voluntary, the teacher - researcher did not feel right about placing pressure on teachers to attend, nor was there any tangible way of having some sort of accountability to the group.

Most teachers attended the sessions because they felt uncomfortable with using the computers with their students. While they realized that they needed assistance in becoming more comfortable with the computers and software, it was also very easy to go back into the classroom and ignore the existence of the machines because computers are not part of the formal curriculum. While there was a desire to learn on the part of the teachers involved, it was often difficult for them to push past their discomfort with the computers to try using them with their students. Unfortunately, there was not enough available support time to develop individual plans of action with each teacher, and also be available to support the the teachers in the classes.

For a variety of reasons, including school events, other lunch hour meetings, as well as the political climate in the school the noon hour inservice sessions were terminated at the beginning of March. Later meeting dates were proposed, but none of the sessions ever occurred.

Pre/Post Conferences

The original design of the project upon which this study is based was to include a pre and post conference in conjunction with each computer class. The researcher checked with Lee prior to each computer class to determine what she would like accomplished during that time. The researcher's role included providing formal instruction to the entire class, supporting Lee as she taught a formal component to her students, as well as working with individual students as they were completing a task which had been assigned previously. There were times when the students were completing something which they had begun in a previous computer class, or something which had given to them while in the classroom sometime during the cycle.

Lee's objectives during the classes which were taught by the teacher - researcher were primarily to learn how a particular feature of the software program worked, or to observe a format and strategy on how to teach a particular segment of the program. There was a relaxed atmosphere between the teacher - researcher and the teacher - participant which allowed either person to interject during the lesson if they had something to add. This allowed for the interchange of ideas and experiences which were of benefit to both the teachers involved as well as the students in the classroom.

It was more difficult to hold a post - conference on a regular basis. It was not uncommon for one teacher or the other to have a commitment immediately following school, making it difficult to

Computer Integration 69

debrief about the class immediately. More informal discussions were often held in passing during the subsequent days and notes kept based on those discussions. These informal discussions and conversations frequently continued over a period of time as one or the other reflected on what had happened and what was being discussed.

Classroom Participation

As previously mentioned, the researcher worked with the Lee's class on a regular basis. In addition to being in the Lab with the class once a cycle, the researcher would often drop into the classroom to chat with the teacher. Outdoor and door supervision done by the researcher was in the same cloakroom and playground area as the class taught by the teacher participant.

Data Collection

The data collected was primarily in the form of journal entries and notes taken by the researcher. The journal entries were handwritten and reflected thoughts and questions which occurred as a result of working on the computers with Lee's class. Lee also made some journal entries. Interviews were also held on an on going basis. During the interviews, the teacher - researcher would record the comments made by the teacher - participant and then transcribe the notes to a hard copy as soon as possible.

Computer Integration 70

The conceptual framework used had implications for the collection of the data. In order for data to be collected for each questions a number of steps had to be employed. For the first question "What concerns or issues arise when a teacher plans for and attempts to implement computer technology into the classroom?, The teacher - researcher had to collect stories about experiences which Lee had with computers. Once the stories were collected, the "concerns and issues were summarized with the help of a "meaning giving" account (technically called a narrative unity be Connelly and Clandinin). The meaning - making accounts for the past and present experiences as well as images for the future.

The second question "How do inservice strategies or supports influence the classroom teacher in her exploration and experimentation with different possibilities of computer integration?" required looking for interpretive connections between inservice strategies and supports in the course of Lee's exploration and experimentation with computers to determine what has influenced her. The interpretive connections were checked with Lee in either oral or written form. My intent was also to look for present influences and imagined future supports which could be of assistance.

The third question, "What reconstructions of meaning do the teacher - participant and the teacher - researcher make in the context of their collaborative inquiry into the use of computers?" required the teacher - researcher to look for meaning and patterns of meaning - making based of the experiences and insights given by

collaboration of the teacher - participant and the teacher - researcher.

Data Analysis / Feedback

Once the study was formally completed, the teacher researcher reviewed all the notes kept by herself and the teacher participant. An initial draft of "Chapter Four" was written and given to the teacher - participant to respond to. The draft was then discussed and changes made. During this time also, questions would arise in the mind of the teacher - researcher and these questions would be discussed with the teacher - participant as well. This cycle of writing, reading, discussing, elaborating and revision was repeated many times. Each time the teacher - participant elaborated or clarified something in the draft, it was rewritten and then returned to the teacher - participant for approval. The teacher researcher would also record her interpretation of what she believed was occurring, and this also was given back to the teacher participant for approval.

There were times when the data analysis would follow a complete cycle, and then other times would be 'short circuited' by something like an informal conversation in the hall, or a question asked over a cup of coffee. Any insights gained at this time would be added to the draft immediately, rather than waiting for a previous draft to be read and discussed. This format was successful in obtaining additional insight from the teacher - participant,

because she was willing to take the time to go through the draft carefully and add elaborate on what she believed was important.

Chapter Four

Data Interpretation and Analysis: The Case Study

Chapter Four provides the data collected during the time of the study, including the meaning that was made of the data originally collected. Additional data, including meaning, was added by both the teacher - participant (Lee) and the teacher - researcher (I) during the writing and revision stages to obtain greater clarity, elaboration and additional construction of new meaning. The data collected came in a variety of forms including field notes, journal entries, excerpts of conversations, as well as additional written comments by the teacher - participant and the teacher - researcher.

Chapter Four is organized into numerous segments reflecting the background and key experiences which surround a particular problem or concern as conceptualized by the Lee and I. Each segment has a title providing an indication of the theme of the data included in that section.

There was continual dialogue between Lee and myself. Discussions would be held and additional written comments made, including elaboration and interpretation of events each time another draft was written. This cycle of revision also evolved into a pattern. The first number of times Lee reviewed the drafts, the comments and questions I asked were for additional information, clarification and meaning. Lee was also free to ask questions and probe for further clarification from me. As time went on, the focus of the revisions moved from clarification and additions to editing some specific words used in some of the quotations. The teacher -

Computer Integration 74

participant did edit some of her quotes for greater clarity, grammatical structure and flow, but did not alter the intent of what was said.

To facilitate the reading of this chapter, each step of the revision process is not explicitly outlined in each segment. It needs to be understood that the revision cycle occurred throughout the writing of this chapter, although not always in the same sequential format. The interpretation of the data found in this chapter is a combination of, and weaving together, of my reflective activity together with Lee's. Typically, there is an underlying story followed by an interpretation.

As was outlined in the problem statement for this thesis, three guiding strands were identified at the outset of this study. These strands are:

1. What concerns or issues arise when a teacher plans for and tries to implement computer technology into the classroom?

2. How do inservice strategies or supports influence the classroom teacher in her exploration and experimentation with different possibilities of computer integration?

3. What reconstructions of meaning do the teacher participant and the teacher - researcher make in the context of their collaborative inquiry into the use of computers? These three strands, as well as some other questions which arose as a result of the study will be discussed in the following. A brief historical account of Lee's experience in the area of computer education will be given first.

Lee's Background Computer Experience

During the initial interview, Lee gave a brief summary of her involvement with computers since their introduction into the school in 1983. Her own words provide a good base for understanding her particular situation. She began by describing the first computers which were placed into the school:

The very first computers that were put into the school were Radio Shack. I didn't know anything about computers. I took a course at the University of Winnipeg. A computer consultant from one of the Divisions taught a five to six week course through Continuing Education at one of the local schools. It was difficult because it was mainly programming. I remember that I needed to know more about computers, I found it confusing. One teacher in the school gave tidbits of help, which I felt were useless. It was the type of program where every dot, dash and space meant something. Certain lines meant certain things. When he tried to help me, I didn't understand.

Then we got the Apples. That was easier. The disk was preprogrammed, so that all the students did was put the answers in. One of the teachers gave us some help. We were given no formal training. If something went wrong, I didn't know what to do. There was always the chance that the disc would show a system error. Or, if the disc drive didn't accept the disc, what do you do then? That type of thing still happens. If there is an error on one side of the disc, you have to flip it to the other side. You have to know to check the program and see if it has been copied on both sides. Sometimes things weren't connected correctly at the back. The connections between the computer, disc drive, and monitor sometimes came loose. There were times when the cords were not plugged in where they should have been which meant checking underneath all the tables, to see what was plugged where or whether or not the power bars were on.

(January, 1993)

According to the forgoing excerpt, Lee's initial problems were:

learning "programming" which was not really useful in the a) introduction of Apple computers without formal classroom; b) training; and c) technical problems such as "system errors" and electrical connections. Lee indicated that she had no prior knowledge or training when she began trying to use the computers at the time they were introduced. It was her own initiative and interest which got her to get more information about how to work with and what to do with computers. The first computers introduced into the school were Radio Shack computers which required the person working on it to be fairly adept at computer programming. No training was provided for teachers at this time and unless someone had a computer science background, or spent a lot of time learning the programming commands on their own time, the computers were of little use. As Lee stated, it was a confusing endeavor even after taking a 5 - 6 week computer course through the Continuing Education Department of the University of Winnipeg.

Lee also reflected on her feelings about taking her students to the computer lab in past years. When asked if she took her students to the lab because she wanted to or because she felt she had to Lee responded:

Most of the time I looked forward to going, but if there was a problem, what do you do? Later I wanted the kids to type work and print it. I would ask them to type something simple like a poem or story from Creative Writing. It would take what seemed like forever because the students couldn't find the keys. I was the only one doing a typing program with Grade Three's called "Type To Learn". We would work though the program systematically. The class liked going to the lab. Thev liked the fact that they were using the computers. They thought that was neat. They could see that they were accomplishing something. They could see their story in print. They were proud of their work and wanted to show it off. They wanted to display the work, and then take it home. That hasn't changed, the students still like that. We only went into the lab one period per cycle, so things really stretched out, that was not as good as now (in Grade Four). Now they go to the (Macintosh) lab two to three periods a cycle, and use the computers in the classroom on their own time. The first year we had the Macintosh computers the kids were in there one period per cycle which was useless. It took a long time to accomplish anything. Even to learn one concept took forever.

There were always the difficulties of typing skills versus the hunt and peck method of finding the correct keys, as well as what to do when the program didn't want to save the work that had been done. There were too many interruptions. Not much was accomplished. We used Typing Tutor IV on the Macs, which was better than the typing software for the Apples. The kids wrote stories and printed them. At that time I didn't use Knowledge Builder (See Appendix A), I used Microsoft. (January, 1993)

Lee seemed to indicate a positive attitude about taking her students to the computer laboratory. Her students also liked going to the lab to use the computers because they readily saw their learning outcomes. The students were proud to display their work. However, Lee felt that it took a long time for the students' to learn a concept, and their typing skills delayed their learning as well. Lee agreed that as technology advanced, the work of the teacher became a little easier. With the introduction of the Apple computers, teachers and students were able to use preprogrammed discs. The teacher was still responsible for showing the students how to start the machine, load the program, troubleshoot for any malfunctioning disc or machine, and shut the machine down again. Lee commented that she received no formal training on how to use the Apple computers, and if there was a problem like a disc error, she didn't know what to do. This type of situation was complicated by the necessity not only to problem solve, but to maintain classroom discipline.

Introduction of Macintosh Computers

Lee's experience was such that the introduction of the Macintosh computers and the Knowledge Builder program was not accompanied by an adequate support base. Lee outlined the initial training and assistance which she received as she was thinking about attempting to introduce Macintosh computers and the Knowledge Builder (K.B.hereafter) program into her classroom.

I had two or maybe three half days of training. I went to the workshops when I taught Grade 4. They were held about three quarters of the way through the year. The first class was held at Infotech, and the Divisional computer consultant taught the classes. He would go so quickly, and then the computer would crash. A 'bomb' would appear on the screen and the program was locked. I would have to restart the Knowledge Builder program, which was like starting from the very beginning again. I would try to get caught up to the rest of the group, and then forget how to get to a particular point in the program. It was very frustrating. Another session was given but it was on the Writing Process. How did this (Writing Process) fit in with anything? I would have been more comfortable with a session on the mechanics of the computer and then move into the Writing Process. I still can't figure it (the Writing Process) out. The students can do the Writing Process in their notebooks, and conference without the computer. I didn't understand how the mechanics of the machine and the use of the K.B. all related to the Writing Process.

One session was held at the Board Office. It was mostly mechanical, and we were given a 'tour' of the K.B. program. The training was twofold. One aspect was how to use the Macintosh computer, while the second component was to learn the Knowledge Builder program which had been created specifically for the Macintosh. At this point there were still many problems with the Knowledge Builder program.

At the Board Office several people did presentations about different components on the Knowledge Builder program. One of them (Board Office personnel) had a contest going with the principals. There was a draw and the school that won got one of the Board Office personnel to teach in one of the classrooms in their school. It was good that someone from the Board Office spent some time in the classroom, because that resulted in some necessary changes.

How long have I been doing this now? Three to four years. After training I still felt incompetent. It was not a good experience. The computers kept crashing. The screen would go blank and the software program wouldn't work. I felt so frustrated. There were just too many glitches. When I think of the writing process sessions, I wonder where a person would find the time during the day to do all of that?

The problem remains that there appears to be very little contact with the classroom, so there are still many glitches and crashes. While it is not so bad with the Grade Four students because they wouldn't type in large amounts of material. The real trouble comes with older students doing projects. (January, 1993)

Lee suggests that the initial inservice training that she received was not very helpful because the pace was so fast, and there were always technical difficulties with the Knowledge Builder. She would have preferred to learn the mechanics of the computer first, and then focus on the writing process. She found it difficult to make all the connections between the mechanics of the computer, the Knowledge Builder program, and the writing process.

When one thinks about the potential for experiencing difficulty while teaching a computer class in the lab, the possibilities are enormous. Sixteen computers (there were also two different types of Macintosh computers in the lab), multiplied by sixteen copies of the program (the version of which changed on a regular basis), multiplied by the number of students in a class, (which in the case of Lee's class was twenty - two or twenty - three), creates tremendous potential for difficulties in learning to occur. The number can be somewhat unsettling, with the possibility of error at each stage of the progression. For example, a person could experience difficulty as a result of the computer itself, the program, the students, or any combination of the three. The students are just learning to use both the hardware and the software, so a teacher must accept the fact that they will experience some difficulty. The challenge is to effectively eliminate as many of the potential difficulties as possible before the students begin to use the computers.

While students are often willing to experiment and explore, they come to rely on some basic guidelines and procedures when feeling the pressure of completing and assignment within a given time frame. When these guidelines change, as many did when a new version of the software program was installed, there were no references provided by the Division to highlight changes, additions or deletions to the program or how it functioned. The command to "scroll" to the next page on a document might work on one version, but not on the next. Lee agreed that this cycle of 'forced relearning' was frustrating for both the teacher and the students.

Two - Year Rotation

Lee experiences the additional difficulty of not being able to work with the computers every year. She is on a two - year teaching rotation between Grades Three and Four, and has access to the Macintosh computers in Grade Four. Divisional guidelines make it difficult for Lee to obtain any access to the Macintosh lab for her Grade Three students. She expressed her feelings about having to relearn the program as well as some the mechanics every other year:

Now it's the same thing. Last year the students worked on the Apples and the new version of Type To Learn, because we got the version updated. They learned the home row keys, but I didn't want to do that all the time, so they worked on the other software programs.

This year (in Grade Four) I teach my own "computer" classes in the Mac lab, but I was uncomfortable at the beginning. They (the students) started with Typing Tutor IV, which is better than the other one (on the Apples); it is easier. (January, 1993)

Lee's initial comments outlined her own experience and feelings about the 'Knowledge Builder' support which she received from the Division during the last school year (1993). The Division had just recently provided each teacher with a manual outlining the commands and components of the Knowledge Builder program.

When I got the K. B. manual I started going through it, I thought that this should be easy enough. I still had to ask for help. Then I began to get different stories, and found out that things were being taught differently in the other Gr. 4 classes. Now having gone through a bit more of the program I am more comfortable. Next year I'm back to the same thing of not being able to use the Mac computers. I wish I could do something at the end of the year in terms of inservicing on the Macs, which would deal with both the mechanics of the computer and the K.B., to get back into using the Macintosh computers. The Division did offer inservices on the Writing Process last year. However, it was cancelled. There still isn't anything being offered. (April, 1993)

In one of our discussions about the many challenges which she faced every year that she used the Macintosh computers, Lee brought to light what she perceived may be a possible assumption being made by the School Division. Lee raised the question (in regard to K.B. update training) "Is the Division making the assumption that everyone, even new teachers are trained (on Knowledge Builder), and that present teachers 'know everything'? (August, 1993)

The additional difficulty of having to reintroduce herself to the program every other year makes using the computers an additional challenge for Lee. She summarizes:

There has always been a different version every time I come back to use the program. It is like starting over again. Without help I would have had more trouble, because there is no inservice training. I guess the Division thought that if a person read the binder they would be O.K. Well, I read the binder and still didn't understand things, and had to ask somebody. A person's comfort level with others is important. There are some people I would never ask. I'd ask you or a couple of others if worst came to worst.

When asked for further clarification about 'a person's comfort level' Lee emphasized that "some people are better at explaining things, and individuals have different knowledge levels to begin with" (L.S., August 1993). Thus an individual has to find someone with whom they are comfortable asking questions, and the same person would have to have the knowledge, or know where to obtain the information necessary to assist the other person. When asked for a further explanation Lee elaborated:

Some people are very knowledgeable. However, they speak in technical jargon. The jargon complicates the explanation and makes it difficult to understand. People who are knowledgeable, yet are able to simplify the explanation by using easy terms, are more beneficial to the person asking the questions. The comfort level is higher with the latter. (October, 1993)

Many of the "glitches" in the software program have been dealt with, leaving a person with a more stable version than was previously available. Teachers now (October, 1993) have a copy of a binder outlining the program, with its capabilities and commands to refer to when working with the software program. While this is a definite asset, and a potential reference tool, it has not been the solution to many of the questions asked by Lee on a day to day basis.

Lee commented on her perspective of whether or not having the K.B. binder in her possession and having received the outlined

instruction from the Division was an adequate base for starting to use the program initially.

I don't think so. There still needs to be someone to troubleshoot. Someone who knows more that you do. How are you going to learn more? You get to a certain point and then get stuck. The binders do not always answer the question! My brother just bought a computer and got a handbook called "DOS For Dummies". It has everything in it. It has an Index, Table of Contents etc. Our Knowledge Builder binders don't have that.

There are also different types of people. Some people can take the manual and work through it step by step. A friend of mine took the Hypercard manual and worked through it. His wife and I would tend to take a course to learn the program, rather than read a manual from cover to cover. I like the more "hands on" approach. Our Division has taken the "Here's the manual, go for it" approach. I find it more beneficial to take a course and refer to the manual, but that is personal preference. (July, 1993)

There appear to be a variety in teacher learning styles which may not have been adequately accounted for when planning for teacher training in using the computers and the software package. While there are some people who can learn in a more isolated environment, Lee as well as others feel that they learn better in a more supportive environment. Hence, apparent differences in learning styles should be considered when considering how best to facilitate the learning needs of teachers.

Classroom Issues and Concerns

The following section will identify and elaborate on the issues which Lee felt created the greatest amount of concern for her when

Computer Integration 85

incorporating Macintosh computers into the classroom. The issues
that were identified were: a) Students' Difficulty With Keyboarding,
b) The Influence of Classroom Composition on Computer Learning,
c) Time Constraints and Lesson Planning Incorporating the
Computers, d) Mechanical Concerns, Hardware and Software.

Students' Difficulty With Keyboarding

Lee had made the decision that teachings her students some basic keyboarding skills was important so that they would be more adept at the actual typing of assignments. (January 1993) Durina the initial interview, Lee commented that "I insist that my students practice with home row keys. One student kept asking "Where's the D?" etc. That drove me crazy!" (January, 1993) She had gone to the effort of ordering a typing program which her students could use in Grade Three on the Apple machines. As was previously mentioned, the Macintosh computers are only accessible for Grades Four to Six The Apple program was satisfactory, but was only used students. for part of the year before some of the discs showed 'error' messages and didn't work. Since the discs had been ordered from the United States, they had to be returned to the publishing company, and the school had to wait for replacement discs. Only the discs showing error messages were sent. After several months, new discs arrived at the school. When the discs were checked, it was discovered that the new discs were a different version than the ones which had been returned. Lee now had to outline the instructions for two separate versions to the students every time the class was working on the typing program. The Apple lab had no "Data Show", or any means of projecting at least one version of the program onto a larger screen so that students could see one version, and have the differences in the other program explained in relation to the projected program. The new discs had also taken several months to arrive at the school, making a continuous program impossible.

When Lee took her class to Grade Four, she was looking forward to using the 'Typing Tutor IV' program on the Macs, a program the students were familiar with from their Grade 3 experience. The 'Type To Learn' program designed to be used with the Apples, was discontinued, and the class began to use the 'Typing Tutor IV' program. The program was on a separate disc which was then inserted into the Macintosh computer every time someone wanted to use it. This is where the students ran into difficulty.

There was a problem with the keyboarding programs. The 'Typing Tutor IV' program didn't work anymore. The problem with that was that some computers were on System 7, and some were on System 6, which made the software incompatible. If a disk had been formatted with a System 7 machine, it would not work in a System 6 machine, with the reverse also being true. It was impossible to continually sort the disks out and remembering which disk had been used on which machine.

I had the idea that the first few minutes of each computer class could be spent using this program. I think that the class would have benefited from the keyboarding. As for as typing things, out, some couldn't type at all and some were quite proficient. The ones who could type got a lot done and were good at following directions. (L.S. July, 1993) The issue of a keyboarding program was discussed again as we sat together discussing how Lee felt about what had been written thus far in Chapter Four. (September 1993) Lee agreed with what was written, and then talked about the continued developments in trying to get an appropriate software program for classroom use. A month of the new school year had passed when Lee provided the following information.

A new typing program called 'All The Right Type' was ordered last spring. When the order arrived in June it was discovered that the wrong size of disk had been ordered, so they were returned, and a new order placed. The new disks arrived in early September, but no one has seen them yet. The disks are sitting in a cupboard Apparently copying the disks to be used on the Apple computers is an issue. Two sets of the same program have been ordered, one for the Apples, and one set for the Macintosh. There is also a problem with the Macintosh computers. There is not enough memory to place the entire program onto a regular double density disk. The program needs to be placed onto a high density disk. However, high density disks do not work with the machines that are still on System 6. The typing program was going to be placed onto its own disc rather than onto the network to lessen the time needed for students to access the program. If the typing program were to be put onto the network, then each student would have to log on every time they wanted to use the program, taking up valuable time.No one is available or has the time to do all the copying of disks. I think it should be organized so that one person takes the suggestions, places the order, receives the order, and then follows up anything that needs to be done, such as copying the disks. Right now there are too many people, and no assigned ownership or responsibility to the duties. (L.S. September, 1993)

The continual difficulty with trying to implement a keyboarding program took alot of time and energy. The best intentions and well

laid plans were short circuited by a combination of incompatibility of the software and the hardware, and lack of ownership among the staff for the ordering of programs. Even when attempts are made to correct and better a situation, things become bogged down because there is no easy routine way of dealing with all the issues that arise.

Two of my journal entries written the second last month of school highlight the difficulty with keyboarding skills:

Typing skills (or lack of them) are still an issue. It takes many of them a very long time to get anything typed. (B.W. May 14, 1993) The students were to be editing their speeches today. Many are still working on things that are actual typing skills, ie. spacing, formatting, etc. I wonder what the high school typing teachers will be saying about this in a couple of years? (B.W. May 21, 1993)

A student's inability to type even adequately made it more difficult for him/her to actually attend to the task which had been given, which was usually to type something out. Lee tried her best to deal with the problem because she saw it as an issue, but was unable to attend to it in a significant way because of the limitations of the software and hardware available for her to use. Lee agreed that she was left trying to deal with the problem of poor keyboarding skills in the classes which she taught. Even though she wished to provide more assistance in the area of typing skills, Lee was unable to do so adequately due to the lack of suitable resources available to her. The students were given lessons on keyboarding as well as formatting their work, which go hand in hand. Observations I made after following the lesson plan that I had written indicate some of the difficulties and challenges which were faced when working with the class.

Typing Format

- <u>Objective</u>: The students will observe and practice how to develop standard typing formats for their work. This will include spacing between words, between sentences, proper punctuation, and margins.
- <u>Procedure</u>: Students will observe a demonstration (using the Data Show) of proper typing format. They will then have the opportunity to edit a previous piece of work, or write something new, and edit that piece.
- <u>Observations:</u> Students appear to have difficulty seeing the difference between one and two spaces after a sentence etc. When it is pointed out to the student, they will change it, but they tend to make the same type of mistake shortly thereafter.

A person feels a bit like a broken record when you go through the same dialogue time after time.

I wonder if more time on the computer would make a big difference in this area - though I kind of doubt it because many of the older students have the same difficulty.

How does one instill a certain degree of pride and concern for doing a good job of an assignment? So many students don't seem to be bothered by a sloppy or poorly completed assignment. There are some who definitely do take more care on an assignment when it is on the computer than pencil/paper, in particular those with poor handwriting skills. Still having difficulty with system crashes. There is still some instability in the program which causes numerous crashes, resulting in work needing to be redone.

Many students are still having difficulty remembering where to save their work. When the time is up many are in a hurry to log off, and are saving their files on the Workstation disk or another equally wonderful place and then not knowing why they cannot find their work the next time they go on.

I don't think the students really understand the different components of the KB program, because they often call up the wrong part of the program when looking for their files.

It is often difficult for two adults in the class to keep up with the questions and problems of kids on 16 computers. What can be done to make this easier? Is the problem the program, the learning the process, or a combination of these or other factors? (B.W. April, 1993)

Lee's response to these questions was that she believed that the problems experienced in the classroom were a result of a combination of the difficulties with the software program as well as incorporating the learning process while specifically using the computers in the classroom. She felt that using the computers with students would be made easier if she was able to use a software program which contained no errors and ran more smoothly. She also believed that more student time on the computers, more teacher support, and adequate inservice training to update knowledge were essential. (L.S. April 1993)

Lee confirmed my concerns about adequate time for teachers to become familiar with the program and the teaching of typing skills. She responded with "When does the teacher have time to learn all the ins and outs of the program, and if the teacher never took typing as a student, what help can he/she give the students in terms of proper formatting? Who helps the teacher and when?" (August 1993) She also offered the following insight. "Others (other teachers in the Division) may not feel that keyboarding is important. There may be no keyboard in the future, it may work by voice activation. However, until then, what is important?" (August 1993) Lee had come to the conclusion that the teaching of keyboarding skills was an important issue for her.

As one reads through the lesson plan it becomes clear that the issue is not as simplistic as just teaching the keyboarding skills once and then being able to assume that they are committed to memory and be used systematically. Whereas the objective of the lesson was to teach formatting components, many other issues came into play.

The issue of an elementary teacher teaching keyboarding will need to be considered by people throughout the educational process. Typing, which has been a option at the Grade Ten level, is now being dabbled with at lower grade levels out of necessity. What types of habits a person learns may or may not be habits which are conducive to rapid typing and keyboarding. Typing is a specialized skill which is now being required at a lower level than before. Lee does not have any formal training to teach keyboarding skills, but feels that she has to attend to the issue in some way because her students need some basics in order to function within the context of her class and the assignments which she wants to give. What ramifications that has for student learning in future years has yet to be determined.

The Influence Of Classroom Composition On Computer Learning

Although the guiding questions of the study deal primarily with concerns directly related to computers, it became clear to both Lee and I that the combination of students in Lee's class was a consideration when attempting to integrate computers into the classroom. The combination of students had a definite bearing on how class time could be structured.

As previously outlined, Lee had a class of between twenty-two and twenty-three students during the school year. There were continual additions and deletions to Lee's register throughout the year. Lee did not complete the school year with many of the students she began with. The students who represented the numbers brought with them a variety of skills and challenges. Lee described her class in the following way:

The numbers in my classroom changed throughout the year. The interesting part is that they were not the same students the entire year. This brought with it many challenges. Most of the students transferred in from other Divisions and so therefore had never used the K. B. program, and most had never used a Macintosh computer. If they had used anything it was an IBM. This meant that every time a new student came in I had to start at the beginning with them, and that often slowed the entire class down because they required my attention.

I had a few other students that made things interesting!

Sam: - Behaviour problem, volatile behavior - Had frequent outbursts-was physical- hitting, throwing articles like chairs, desks as well as what ever he could get his hands on. - Academic - low average.

- Often missed class (computer and otherwise) because he was in 'time out' from recess or misbehaving during class time. As a result he often didn't know what was going on.

George: - Low academic, 2-3 years below grade level in all areas.

- Behaviour was volatile - would throw things when something didn't suit him.

- Got frustrated using the computers - he hadn't used them before coming to our school, so he didn't know where the keys were, he needed keyboarding skills.

- Couldn't focus in on the listening part even though the information was projected onto the overhead screen by the Data Show. He experienced difficulty transferring what was on the screen to what he was doing. The pace was too fast for his learning style.

Ryan: - Really bright

- Never used computers before so he had no keyboarding skills. He had problems finding the letters, and that was very frustrating for him.

- When he was frustrated he took a "I don't want to do this anymore" attitude. He didn't want to attempt a task that he had difficulty perfecting.

- Things had to come easily - he didn't like to figure things out.

- Spent more time looking around the room than he did working on his assignments.

These students took up so much of my time. They would get frustrated and then they got into arguments. As a result they were asked to leave the room. This type of disruption caused the continuity to disappear. The others had to wait. They always had to wait for these students to settle down, and so they didn't benefit as much. The days when those students weren't there things were better, and ran more smoothly.

There were also many positive students in my room.

Susan: Had taken a computer class through the Challenge program, so she knew how to do a lot already. She even practiced her keyboarding on her typewriter at home.

Colin: He had a computer at home, so he already knew a lot and was able to help others. He could help in general terms but when it come down to using our system, he had to learn it. He was the one who liked to work on Superpaint even when it was inappropriate to do so because of the limitations of not being able to adequately write text in that format.

The rest of my class was somewhere in the middle. (L.S. July, 1993)

The composition of a class for a given year will have an effect on what and how material is covered by the classroom teacher. Lee had three particularly volatile students in her classroom which had an effect on her as well as the other students in the class. On the other end of the spectrum, the stronger students were able to help others when they ran into difficulty.

The three problematic students in the class needed to be assisted more than the other students. They were all new students to the school and had no previous, or very little computer experience. Their behavior in class disrupted other students and myself. Therefore, continuity in the class was lacking. (L.S. July, 1993)

Even with two adults present in the Macintosh Lab, it was difficult to assist individual students quickly enough to prevent them from simply sitting and waiting during a computer class. The following observations were made after a "typical" class in the lab.

The students were working on a variety of things. Some were working at the tables doing assignments in other subjects not requiring computers, others were at the computer trying to finish their "How To Do ----- " speeches on the computer. They were working at several stages, both writing and editing. I assisted several students who were working on their speeches. I was impressed by the quality of the content in some of the speeches. Many kids still have difficulty remembering the details of how to edit, ie: "How many spaces after a period?" I helped them organize the content of their speech into sequential order so that it wasn't one mass of 'run on' writing. (B.W. April, 1993)

The students' close physical proximity to each other can sometimes be distracting for those who would rather be doing something else than attending to their work. The layout of the lab doesn't leave a teacher many alternatives except moving a student to another computer station if there was room, or asking them to leave the lab.

It is difficult for a teacher to deal with the many demands during a class such as that. Everyone is at a different place, and if someone has difficulty, they have to wait until someone can get to them Also, the editing process is slow, though it is better than doing it with a pencil and paper, because the corrections are done immediately and neatly.

(B.W. May 14, 1993)

The combination of personalities of the students in any given classroom has an effect on the amount of material covered, as well as how the material is presented. When Lee reflected on what she had done with her students over the year she commented on what another class had done using the computers.

One thing that another class did that was really good. They made a book. They typed the sentences, printed them and then cut them out. They glued the sentences onto the page and then did the graphics. So in some ways they did more things. That class of kids was easy to teach. Classroom makeup makes a difference. I had kids that transferred in and out. I also had students who were behaviour problems. The lack of computer knowledge was an issue. (L.S. July, 1993)

Time Restraints and Lesson Planning Incorporating the Computers

During the initial interview, Lee commented on what she considered when planning lessons where the computers would be used:

It's (planning the lessons) like looking at an assignment in a different way, the old way being pencil/paper to complete the finished product. Now I give much the same assignment, and the students use the computer from the beginning to the finished product. I must allow them enough time to do the assignment. I have to make some decisions, such as "Do the students know how to type well enough to complete the task within the prescribed amount of time?" I have to allow time for the students to do the assignments. I have to give 3-4 classes. On the last assignment, my computers were always busy, so we used computers in two other classes as well because I was not sure how many would finish on time. They (the students) surprised me. Most handed it in, and I only had to send one person to the Lab to finish.

(L.S. January, 1993)

Lee liked what the computer could do for the students in terms of neatness and also something that they were keen to work on, so they were more inclined to complete an assignment on time.

At the conclusion of the study Lee was asked if there were any further considerations which should be included when planning lessons for computer use. She drew the following conclusions:

.

The students do need the time to complete their assignments on the computer. They have to do the typing and that takes time. The question really is, "What does a teacher delete from the curriculum in order to accommodate the time spent on the computers? It is not always the students who have finished their work who need to go on the computers. Often it is the students who are slower in completing their regular school work who are also slower on the computer. It would be great if a person could convince the students to do the necessary work on the computer at school, and take their other work as homework. The students who have a lot of motivation would be more willing to do that. (L.S. September, 1993)

Completing assignments using the computer is not as simplistic as just modifying the lesson content. A teacher must also attend to the difficulty of getting the task completed.

Mechanical Concerns: Hardware and Software

Teaching by its very nature brings the challenges of working with many students at many different levels of progress. When a teacher includes the use of the computer, the dynamics of classroom instruction increase. During our first discussion, the topic of hardware and software arose as an issue.

As soon as we had talked about the study, we began discussing a problem that she (Lee) had during her last computer class. The Data Show didn't 'want to' work properly again and the students were having trouble saving their work in the correct file. We discussed the possibilities of what might have gone wrong. (B.W. January 12, 1993) During the first week of the study we ran into difficulty with the program.

We ran into a problem with the K.B. program during the past week. One of the students had a three page Draft Writer document and it would only print the first page. We couldn't get it to print. We were not sure why it would print some multiple page documents and not others. Lee was frustrated with the whole program. Around midnight I thought of a possible solution which did end up working. It meant creating a new document and putting the page that wouldn't print in there and then printing from the new document, a bit of a problem, but at least it printed.

I had a student with a similar problem this week. In her case it would print three of four pages. We did the same thing. We dumped the fourth page into a new file and printed from there.

(B.W. January 23, 1993)

Difficulty with the software program slows down the work of the student and demands the time of the teacher. Fortunately a workable solution could be found or the students' would have had to redo work they had already done. The teacher has to make a decision about how long to spend working on a solution for the problem during class time, as well as what to tell the student whose work wouldn't print. The student is concerned because the work has already been done, but they are unable to retrieve some of it in print form. No one was that keen about redoing a portion of an assignment which had already been completed.

When I reflected on what I had written about finding solutions to problems at midnight, I realized that I carry many of the unanswered questions of the day with me when I leave the school. A
question will follow me around, and I will contemplate possible solutions, or ask new questions about the same issue. Teaching is not a nine to five job for me. What I do in the classroom goes with me as I try to 'think ahead' and attempt to learn from past experiences and be better prepared for 'the next time'. As Schon (1983) states, "In the real world practice, problems do not present themselves to the practitioners as givens. They must be constructed from materials of problem situations which are puzzling, troubling, and uncertain (p. 40). Another thing that occurred was that when I encountered the problem with the printing for the second time, I was able to use the knowledge gained from the previous situation and apply it to the situation at hand. The "lens" through which I saw the situation had changed, a cycle of reflection had occurred and the knowledge gained could now be applied to another situation.

Lee and I worked together teaching her students on the computer. One issue that we had to deal with continually was that of difficulty with either the program or the mechanical supports. My journal entry of April 23, 1993 provides a glimpse of some of the issues at that time.

I taught the second class using Writing Organizer and the Concept Map today. It still takes so long to log the entire lab onto the network. It is difficult - not all the students follow directions at the same time. Even with the Data Show, it is helpful, but it doesn't account for stragglers. We reviewed some of the tools and the idea behind the Concept Map. They were given an example and then the assignment was to create a Concept Map of their own which they would save at the end of class and then finish another time. When it came time to 'Save' and 'Log Off', two groups of students didn't follow directions and lost their Concept Map. The instructions were to pull the 'File' menu down and go to 'Save'. When looking for the appropriate place to 'Save', click the 'Drive' button of the screen. Continue to click the 'Drive' button until you arrive at the school icon. Search for the name of the classroom teacher in the list that is on the screen and open that file. Then, locate the file number which is the same as the number the individual used to 'Log On' to the machine. Somewhere in that process the two groups of students did not follow directions and closed the program without pulling down to 'Save'. As a result, the program closed without saving their document, and they will have to start over again.

(B.W. April 23, 1993)

The difficulties experienced by students while attempting to function with the computers raises several potential problems for the classroom teacher. There are still students having difficulty logging on to the network which slows down the start of the class because the teacher is often called upon to assist. When everyone in the class is logging off and saving their material, it is impossible for one person to ensure that everyone is following the correct procedure. Unfortunately the process is very unforgiving in the sense that once the material has been saved in an inappropriate place, or not saved at all, it is very difficult, it not impossible to retrieve. Searching for lost documents also takes up a lot of time. Students are usually very willing to help a classmate, providing that they do not get behind themselves, but the students do not necessarily understand where to look for misplaced files either. The teacher is somewhat limited in the situation as well. The hardware and software limit the choices that the teacher's can make, in the sense that they must remain within the constraints of the program.

Unless the software program is changed at the Divisional level, the classroom teacher must learn to deal with the imposed limitations and subsequent frustrations.

Problems with the software program were not the only difficulties experienced on a regular basis. The comments made after a class in the Macintosh Lab on May 21, 1993 provides a glimpse of what a 'typical' class could be like:

Had an interesting class to end a Friday afternoon. There were Start Up discs missing from a number of the machines again. I had to send several students to get Start Up discs from both their classroom and another room.

Some students still haven't figured out where they are going in the program - on one hand you can't blame them because it is so complex, on the other - it's frustrating because the majority know what they're doing. A few are still saving' who knows where, because their files are impossible to locate the next time.

We experienced a major disruption when the majority of the machines displayed a 'collision' or a 'bomb' message on the screen. Couldn't bring the program back from either message so everyone ended up having to restart right from the beginning with having to log on again. We lost a good 10 minutes (of a forty minute class) and it really set the students off. It did a great job of breaking their concentration. (B.W. May 21, 1993)

Lee and I agreed that there is no one issue that can be singled out as the major difficulty in teaching with computers. It is the culmination of many smaller problems and situations which build up to the point of being a larger problem. Lee summarized the situation in the following way; "There is no single issue that can be singled out because many small problems create havoc with having computers in the classroom. Issues range from hardware problems, operation problems and the software itself." (October 1993)

Excerpts from Lee's journal during the last two months of the school year indicate that even though she personally had a much better understanding of the computer and the program there were many outside issues that had to be contended with on a regular basis:

Lab was occupied by a class doing art. It was disruptive and non - conducive to teaching 'computer'. Also, the overhead bulb on the 'Data Show' was burnt out. The typing program has been unuseable for a month now. Therefore, students are unable to learn more typing skills.

(L.S. May 5, 1993)

Network down and students unable to work on assignments. (L.S. May 13, 1993)

Network problems and student computers all crashed. Files/heaps colliding. (L.S. May 21, 1993)

I got extra lab time to make up for lost classes. Only one period was available. Unfortunately one computer has been missing from the lab for quite some time leaving two people without a computer. I had to make alternate arrangements for them which were inconvenient. (L.S. June 9, 1993)

Double period! Worked on multicultural story; finished product. Showed class : Title (how to), Underline, Bold type, Change size of story print to enhance presentation. Class liked the idea of doing that to enhance the presentation of their stories. One computer was down, inconvenient. One computer would not print in the lab and the location on the 'Chooser' wouldn't change. I had to ask a teacher if the story could be printed in her class. (L.S. June 14, 1993)

Had a double period. Two computers were malfunctioning. One was due to appropriate icon not showing up on the screen. The other, one of the plugs at the back was incorrectly connected.

I fixed one and we got a different Start Up disc for the other. All this was done with a delay in class time at the computers. (L.S. June 22, 1993)

The journal excerpts are an indication of some of the difficulties experienced by one classroom teacher on a regular basis. The use of the computer lab by another class, a typing program that didn't want to work, difficulties with the network as well as the computers themselves, presented many challenges for Lee. None of the problems are insurmountable, particularly in isolation. It is the combination of these difficulties combined with the everyday and all day routine of managing a classroom which become compounded and create the challenges of integrating the computers into the classroom.

The Saga Of The Cords

Difficulties with the software were not the only trials that Lee experienced. Trouble with the mechanics of running the computers also came into play. The following example is typical of the type of difficulties which could be experienced by a classroom teacher on a regular basis, and which Lee herself experienced.

The Saga Of The Cords

Many of the computers in the Lab suddenly bombed during the Lab time resulting in many assignments being lost, and creating the need to 'reboot' many of the machines 'manually'. (A manual restarting of the computer means breaking the power supply to the computer by pressing a 'reset' button on the side of the machine, and holding the button down for 10 seconds. This means that when the button is released, the computer returns to a 'Log On' position, and the student has to start over by 'logging on' again.)

This problem had occurred several times in quite a close time frame, which made us ask ourselves how and why these crashes were occurring. The interesting thing was while the majority of the machines were crashing there were a few which seemed to appear to remain stable, at least for a longer period of time.

We finally discovered that the cords on the machines at the back of the lab were swinging quite loosely at the side or underneath the table which the computer was on. As students swung their feet they accidently kicking the cord, resulting in the connection to the main server to be interrupted, which was enough to cause a large number of machines to crash (often about 14 machines).

Lee went to the teacher in charge of the computer hardware and explained the problem which was occurring. She received a response much to the effect of 'too bad, but nothing is going to be done about it'. Lee and I had a discussion about the problem and decided that it was probably not that difficult a situation to rectify. We decided to locate some duct tape and tape the cords down ourselves. As luck would have it there was no duct tape in the school, so it took a few extra days before the cords could be taped down. After the cords were taped down, the problem was basically eliminated. Now why should such a simple solution take that much time and effort to correct? What if the teacher got 'put off' after bringing the problem to the one teacher and took it no further? She would have had to continue to deal with machines crashing during class time. (B.W. March, 1993)

This saga continued for approximately a two - week time period, during which numerous thoughts, comments and ideas were shared. Because no one else (including the person technically 'in charge' of the Lab) was prepared to assist with the situation, the two teachers involved took the matter into their own hands and found a solution to the situation as they saw fit. Lee elaborated:

Computer Integration 105

This was another example of how a problem creates difficulties for teachers. It seemed that there was no ownership for duties relating to the computers, the hardware and their operation. Even the technical person in charge of the computers did not feel it was his role to repair the problem, even though it was minor. Personality entered the picture as well. The technical person did not believe that enough release time was made available to sufficiently maintain the system. (L.S. October, 1993)

There are several reasons why this type of crash is very disruptive. Whatever work the students had done since the last time they "saved" would be lost. This upsets the students, and if there is a timeline on the assignment, places the student further behind. The entire class gets disrupted because many have lost their work and need to restart their machines, and those who still have their work are concerned about everyone else and lose their concentration as well. Manually restarting the machines means that each student must log on to the network again. It takes between seven and ten minutes for a class to log on to the network due to the complexity of the program being used and the speed that the server can process all the information. If this type of situation occurs during a thirty-five minute class, which it did on several occasions, a large percentage of the teaching or work time is lost.

This problem was solved and rectified as a result of continued dialogue between Lee and I. Neither was about to let the problem continue without trying to determine what it really was, and how to solve it. Once the problem was identified, both of us continued to work at it until something was done rather than accept "no" or "lack of interest" as an answer. To Lee and I it was a very real problem.

It wreaked havoc with the teaching and work which was occurring during the class period, and increased the frustration level of both the teachers and the students.

Several concerns arose during the study and have been explored in depth earlier in this chapter. These include keyboarding skills of students, the classroom's composition, as well and mechanical considerations when using both the hardware and software.

Lee was very concerned that her students learned some basic keyboarding skills as part of their computer skills. She went to tremendous effort to try to ensure that her class had the opportunity for keyboarding practice at the beginning of each class. She never anticipated the difficulties she experienced with program incompatibility because the computers were on two different systems. The incompatibility of the computers with the two programs made the teaching of keyboarding skills ineffective and virtually impossible. What began as a real issue and concern to Lee remained a very real and most challenging (and vexing) problem for her throughout the duration of the study regardless of the numerous attempts at and steps made to rectify and improve the situation.

Thus, it is important to note that these concerns which were each identified and interpreted in the text simply highlight the major areas of concern. Within each area there were many problems, using Schon's terms, which were "named and framed" and to a greater or lesser extent resolved, leading to another cycle or spiral of reflectivity. Once identified, the current concerns or issues seemed no more important to Lee and I than the recognition, or metacognition that these cycles or spirals of reflectivity of continually emerging problems had to be thought about and acted upon as best as we knew how. At the same time, the problems could be placed in the larger context of Lee's narrative of experience, which when trying to use the computers in the classroom resulted in a great deal of frustration.

Influence Of Inservice Strategies and Supports On Exploration and Experimentation

The influence of inservice strategies and supports on Lee's exploration and experimentation with different possibilities of computer integration has already been included in a series of "stories" earlier in this chapter. Together, these "stories" provide a narrative context which helps provide the framework for how Lee views herself and her teaching.

Lee has experienced a history of sporadic support in her attempt to integrate computers into the classroom. When computers were first introduced into the school, Lee took the initiative and got some formal training. (p 73) When the Macintosh computers were introduced, Lee received some formal training which was a beginning, but it did not prove to be adequate. Lee stated: "After training I still felt incompetent. It was not a good experience. The computers kept crashing. The screen would go blank and the software program wouldn't work. I felt so frustrated." (p. 79)

Barnes (Russel and Munby, 1992) attributes the following to Olson (1982): "Whatever 'dilemma's' are of first concern to teachers will strongly constrain their ability to act upon injunctions from other people to change what they do in the classroom (p.10)". Clearly after a variety of courses and half day computer inservice sessions of various kinds (elaborated on earlier in the chapter) Lee still felt that she did not have enough information and experience to be successful using the computer herself, never mind with a class of students. Basic understanding of both the hardware and the software was not at a level where she felt she could use the technology without assistance. The rotation between two grades in alternating years also placed Lee at disadvantage. Trying to relearn the software program as well as remember the workings of the computer was a real challenge.

When asked what she would envision as necessary supports for teachers wanting to integrate computers into their classrooms, Lee had several ideas.

Inservices on how to use the computer as well as the program. Could be done on Microsoft to learn the mechanics of the computer. It would be helpful to go to a workshop. They should be offered periodically, like September, or near the end of the school year so a person is set up for the next year.

They (the workshops) should be offered throughout the year.

The first one should be a day, with another after Christmas; might have 3 - 4 half day sessions per year.

In between, there should be someone on staff to help. There should be enough people to ask for help. Some will catch on faster or have more interest, like if they have their own computer at home.

Ideal: To have enough computers in the lab so that everyone in the class could have their own machine. This wouldn't be as frustrating. On the other hand, when a student runs into problems, sometimes the other person can help.

The idea of a support teacher is a good idea.

The Day Two's when you come in as a support teacher are a bonus. Now some have progressed with Typing Tutor IV. (L. S. June, 1993)

What sort of support would be helpful to a classroom teacher who is attempting to become comfortable with both the computer and a particular software program while still maintaining a regular classroom routine and program?

Support Strands

Lee and I agreed that the areas where she believed support could be given to teachers could be classified into the following components:

1. The School Division should provide some basic training on a systematic and ongoing basis. These workshops should be progressive and easily accessible to teachers. Fulton (88) identifies some of the supports that are necessary for successful computer integration to occur.

Obviously equipment is critical. While it is possible to run an inservice session on a new reading or mathematics technique in a traditional classroom, teaching teachers to use a word processing or gradebook program requires a computer, preferably one per teacher. Furthermore, teachers can apply what they have learned in an inservice session only if they have access to the technology once the training has been completed. (p.34)

2. There should be someone readily available to assist a teacher who has a question about either the hardware or software. This person or persons has to be someone who is knowledgeable in the workings of the computer and the software program. The same person must also be prepared to discuss ways in which regular lessons can be adapted for use with the computer. When Lee taught a lesson incorporating the use of computers she had to factor in things like the time necessary to log on to the network, students not being able to take the assignment home as homework, and teaching time for computer related components of the assignment like formatting and spacing of materials.

3. The "resource person" must be accessible to teachers when the teachers have a need, rather than only at recess, or before and after school. The needs could range from a question about the logistics of using the computer, difficulty with a component of the software program or wondering about how best to teach a particular concept. While there are often people on a school staff who have the knowledge and are willing to help others, they may not always be available to assist a teacher at a particular time. I was scheduled in to be in the lab with Lee's class on a regular basis. This allowed for team teaching, as well as the modelling of lessons, for example the lesson on editing, so that the other person had the opportunity to observe a possible method of teaching a particular program component or lesson idea. Again Fulton ('88) underlines the importance of teacher support.

There are a number of critical factors that underlie whether or not a teacher adopts technology. These include: having a strong practice or "hands on" component of training sessions, having classes taught by credible sources (most notably other teachers), adapting to the teachers' level of computer competence, and focusing on applications which the teacher can customize or adapt to his or her specialized teaching situation. The most crucial factors are time and support allowing plenty of time and support both in class and afterward too. (p.34)

The continual working together provided Lee and myself with the opportunity to become more comfortable with each other and therefore be willing to ask more questions and possibly risk making a mistake or trying a particular method or idea so it could be observed by the other and then discussed for further learning. This was our reflection, our collaboration and in the end, added to each of our narratives of experience and of school reform. The integration of computers, like changes in other curricular areas take time and energy to see any results. It is not a rapid process because it requires a teacher to examine and review what he/she has been doing and then make a decision about whether or not a change in practice is necessary.

Both Lee and myself were able to reflect on what was happening in the class, and as we became more comfortable and confident with each other, were able to express areas where we had questions and difficulties. It became easier for both of us to ask questions about something that we thought should be obvious; for example, "Why does the type keep going off the screen rather that returning to the margin?" Through dialogue, exploration and experimentation we were able to discover that the margin had to be set in such a way that the text did not continue off the screen by activating a command called "Wrap To Window". Neither of us thought that setting the type text would take several days and a considerable amount of time talking and experimenting with the computers.

In order to interact on more than a surface level both of us had to feel assured that our questions, comments and sometimes lack of understanding would be treated with respect and genuine concern. We came to feel at ease asking the other person for their ideas and input, and knew that no problem was "too small".

Exploration and experimentation as outlined in the second question were a component of every class where Lee used computers with her students. Since this was the first time that Lee had actively used computers with an entire class, she had many decisions to make. For example, she had to decide on how to modify a lesson when considering the amount of time available on the computer, how well the students knew the various components of the program, and how well students would be able to transfer typing skills from practice to use with assignments. This type of continual revision of teacher expectation in regard to time lines and lesson content forced Lee to break each lesson down into smaller frames, where a number of smaller components were put together to create a larger picture. The use of the computers demanded that lessons be thought out and presented in smaller segments than many of the lessons which did not integrate computers because there were more variables such as 'Saving' and the difficulties with keyboarding that had to be specifically attended to.

Lee agrees that she gained the most skill and confidence when there was personal contact with other individuals in the school who could provide support and assistance. The interpersonal relationships with other staff members were an important component in Lee's growth as a person and as a teacher. The mutual support network which was built between Lee and other staff members made it possible for experimentation and exploration to occur in the classroom. Whereas Lee had previously relied on other people to assist her as she attempted to use computers in the classroom, she eventually began to take on a leadership role by sharing ideas and expertise with other teachers. Lee began dialoguing with other teachers about specific problems when she heard them discussed, be that in the hallway or staff room. Thus. Lee's past experiences and images for the future is connected into a kind of narrative unity which has placed much value on this type of personalized support in the past and sees it as important for her future growth.

Barnes, (in Russell, T. & Munby, H.) draws from Fullan (1982) and Lacey (1977) in supporting how Lee and I saw our work.

The professional element in school control reminds us how important support form other teachers is: when change is in question, a supportive anecdote from another practitioner carries more weight than the opinions of any university professor, local authority advisor or curriculum consultant. The possibility of substantial change in the subculture of teaching depends upon the mutual trust that can be developed in a professionally controlled institution (p. 23).

Lee, the teacher - participant and I, the teacher - researcher continue to attempt to meet the needs of computer education and continue to run into a variety of difficulties as this study comes to a conclusion. As an example, the school has recently purchased the site licence for the key - boarding program called "All The Right Type". The program has been installed on the network, and is running on the Macintosh computers used by the Grades Four through Six students. Lee is presently teaching Grade Three, which means she does not have access to the Macintosh computers this year. We are trying to get the program copied to be used on the Apple computers used in Grade Three, and are running into problems such as a broken copy program, obtaining the necessary materials, and getting time to copy the programs so there will be a class set. (November 1993) While much has changed, this is a "familiar" problem. Nevertheless, such frustrations continue to be alleviated in large measure by their familiarity and by the interpersonal relationships which Lee and I enjoy.

Collaborative Meaning - Making

The question of collaborative meaning - making "What reconstructions of meaning do the teacher - participant and the teacher - researcher make in the context of their collaborative inquiry into the use of computers?" is not easy to define in a clear way. Rather than a number of well defined "reconstructions", I believe that this process is more cyclical in nature. When a "problem" would arise, either Lee or I would begin thinking about the

implications. As was illustrated by "The Saga Of The Cords", the continual dialogue between us, and the eventual action that was taken demanded that the situation be dealt with over a period of time, rather than an instant solution. We would then discuss the 'problem,' make some adjustments, rethink, discuss, take action, and This "spiral of learning" continued, the spiral would continue. though did not necessarily result in firm and final decisions being made on each problem issue. It did lead to problem solving, and practical knowledge being generated. Also, new "frames" through which to better understand a situation were created. The new frames allowed new insight for thought, dialogue and action to be Schon (1983) would view this type of process in the added. following way:

In reflective conversation, the practitioner's efforts to solve the reframed problem yields new discoveries which call for new reflection-in-action. The process spirals through stages of appreciation, action, and reappreciation. The unique and uncertain situation comes to be understood through the attempt to change it, and changed through the attempt to understand it (p.132.).

Connelly and Clandinin (1989) state the same issue in different words. A person must have:

... an understanding of the process as one in which we are continually trying to give an account of the multiple levels (which are temporally continuous and socially interactive) at which the inquiry proceeds. The central task is evident when it is grasped that a person is both living their stories in an ongoing experiential text and telling their stories in words as they reflect upon life and explain themselves to others (p.7).

Computer Integration 116

An example of a "continual process" is the pattern of constant frustration experienced when working with the computers. As soon as one problem was discussed, thought about, and dealt with, a different problem would arise. Lee (and I) added greatly to our personal practical knowledge bases, important dimensions of which have been documented earlier in this chapter. The result is a new perspective and more experience with which to address future problems - vexing as we expect them to be. The "new perspective" provides a lens through which we can process issues as they occur, and view them as smaller segments to be dealt with rather than an overwhelming situation. This historical pattern as exemplified in this chapter, gives an indication that the future will continue in much the same fashion. Connelly and Clandinin (1987) would refer to this "looking ahead" as an image of what is to come. Lee agrees that it is important to receive support in an ongoing way in order for a teacher to increase her skill and comfort level with the computers. The very nature of computer technology combined with students is, to us, a guarantee of continued challenges and difficulties.

The narrative component brought by the perspective of Connelly and Clandinin allowed validity and meaning to be given to the broader story of a classroom teacher as she experienced professional life and reflected on it. This type of "narrative unity" or meaning - making account, merges a past perspective with present understanding which then forms the basis for examining and making "future" oriented decisions. The theoretical framework provided by both Schon and Connelly and Clandinin provided a conceptual lens through which to focus on current and previous events including ideas, intentions and general meaning - making which was occurring. The Schonian concept of naming and framing and problem solving, allowed both the teacher - researcher and the teacher - participant to identify, define, think about, and take action on the many challenges which emerged. This resulted in a spiral of problem solving occurring on a continuous basis, as there were always issues to be dealt with.

The fact that there were two people identifying with and trying to find solutions to particular situations allowed validity to be given to the concerns and the needs of the classroom teacher could be met in a supportive and collaborative manner. This format falls in line with the outline MacKinnon (1989) gives for "Joint Experimentation". In Joint Experimentation both participants take turns problem setting and reframing rather than only the "supervisor" (p. 193). This is consistent with what occurred between Lee and myself during the course of the study. We took turns identifying problems and discussing potential solutions.

The narrative framework allowed licence for the identified issues to be dealt within the context of past experience, rather than isolated incidents. As the "story" unfolded, the teacher - participant and teacher - researcher began to see common and repeated issues emerging. This allowed for some proactive, rather than only reactive planning to be done with the lessons for the students. This also allowed the teacher - participant the opportunity to be more prepared for possible difficulties, and make adjustments to the format of the class, or the required task to lessen the potential for difficulty. This would include strategies like teaching the lessons in smaller segments and "buddying up" the students so that they could provide support for each other. Both the teacher - researcher and the teacher - participant experienced a process of change which incorporated more systematic and deliberate decision making in the sense that both had a better understanding of what the potential difficulties could possibly be, and some strategies to deal with them.

The support that Lee and I were able to give each other has increased both of our confidence levels when working with computers. This confidence has allowed Lee to experiment with more complex parts of the software program like the Writing Organizer and a variety of lesson plans with her students. These lesson plans included the components of the "Writing Organizer" such as the "Concept Map", "Outliner" and "Notebook". Each component required the students to have an increased understanding of how the software program worked in order for them to move from one "page" to another and remember on what "page" they had done a particular segment of the assignment. She has also been able to provide support for other teachers who have experienced difficulty with the computers, by listening to them and assisting them in problem solving. She has become more comfortable and aware of the numerous decisions that one must make when incorporating computers. There are many teaching decisions that must be made, which are not always in the control of the teacher, but rather are embedded in the very nature of the hardware and software being used. For example, Lee did not have a choice in whether or not her students learned how to log on to the network. If her students were

going to use the computers, she had to find an effective way to guide them through a complex process, so they would meet with success. While the Division goals and vision about the use of computers is ever changing and expanding to include things like multi - school communication and an integration of business partnerships, I believe that Lee and I have begun the process of incorporating computers into the classroom in an effective manner.

The research process has resulted in personal growth for me. The opportunity to work closely with a colleague on a specific project has provided me with the opportunity to reflect on the many challenges facing the classroom teacher on a regular basis. I had never taken the time to individualize and synthesize the many factors and issues that must be accounted for by the classroom teacher on any given school day. Until I undertook the research I did not have any conceptual framework through which to filter the events in the classroom. Douglas Barnes (1992) gives credit to the frameworks which are used in the classroom.

The interpretive frameworks that guide teachers' choices of teaching strategies are not inferior to those of curriculum developers or administrators, but represent responses to different concerns and priorities. The possibility of principled change in teaching strategies and therefore in what is learnt by students, depends upon teachers' frames (p. 15).

The lens outlined by Barnes, provides the skeleton on which the work of Donald Schon and Connelly and Clandinin can be framed. "To describe the frames as 'teachers' knowledge' is potentially misleading, unless 'knowledge' is seen as value - laden and dynamic."

Computer Integration 120

(p. 16) The structure and framework set out by Schon and Connelly and Clandinin have provided me with the language to think and write more clearly and confidently about events that occur within the context of classroom life.

Chapter Five

Conclusions, Methodological Issues and Implications

Objectives and Questions

The purpose of this study was to 1) examine the challenges encountered by one teacher when trying to integrate computer technology into the classroom, and 2) determine which inservice strategies or teacher supports best facilitated effective change with integrating computers into the classroom. Three questions were posed for investigation:

1) What concerns of issues arise when a teacher plans for and tries to implement computer technology into the classroom?

2) How do inservice strategies or supports influence the classroom teacher in her exploration and experimentation with different possibilities of computer integration?

3) What reconstructions of meaning do the teacher - participant and the teacher - researcher make in the context of their collaborative inquiry into the use of computers?

In order to study these questions, a teacher - researcher and a teacher - participant collaborated together over the length of the study. The complete analysis of the research findings can be found in Chapter Four.

Conclusions:

The study revealed that there were numerous challenges which arose and had to be dealt with by the teacher - participant. Lee had to deal with issues such as hardware and software difficulties, lack of computer skills on the part of the student, and difficulties which grew out of the composition of the classroom. The continual dialogue between Lee and myself allowed for collaborative problem - solving and mutual learning.

The "Schonian" perspective on reflectivity including the "naming" and "framing" of problems allowed reflection and dialogue to occur, and a "spiral of learning" developed which facilitated growth in both people. In the Schonian sense, the various problems surrounding the key - boarding program continues to be the "Problem of the Day". In a broader sense, Lee and I agree that even though we have conquered many problems as they relate to computers, the problems will continue though our past experiences give us a resource to draw on as we encounter and even anticipate future issues and our response to them. The exploration and experimentation which we have done thus far provides us with a solid experiential base to deal with upcoming situations.

The Literature supports many of the findings of the study. Lee spoke about the frustration and inadequacy she felt after participating in a few isolated inservice sessions. A number of researchers agree that "one - shot" inservices with no follow - up have proven to be ineffective in effecting change. (Ellis, 1990; Hord & Austin, 1986; Burkholder, 1987; Fulton, 1988; Cohen & Brawer, 1986; Akker, Keursten & Plomp, 1988; Sachs & Logan, 1984) Lee felt that there was very little carry over between the isolated sessions and her attempts to work with the computers at school. She believed that so much information was disseminated so quickly at these sessions with little opportunity to "practice" what was being taught, little was gained from attending the sessions. It is possible that the isolated inservice sessions were more of a detriment than an asset because they served to heighten the anxiety already felt because computers were involved.

Numerous researchers (Payne, 1983; Wagschal, 1984, Fullan, 1982; Trainor & Fregosi, 1986; Hord & Austin, 1986; Akker, Keursten & Plomp, 1988) support the notion that in order to have a change in teacher practice, implementation of a program which has the goal of a change in practice, must occur over time and teachers must receive on - going, long term support. Consistent with these researchers' views, Lee felt that she was able to work through many of the difficult situations which grew out of the desire to integrate the computers because she received the necessary on - going support.

In regard to computer oriented problems, this study affirms that there is a need to provide personalized information which is specific to the need of the teacher at a given time. Providing information and support which is relevant to the teacher's need at a particular time may include additional "background" material like manuals and other forms or written documentation, assistance identifying problems and developing appropriate solutions, as well as "trouble shooting" with technical problems.

In order for effective change to occur on a personal level, validity must be given to what teachers have to say about a situation (Beattie 1991). Lee's opinions about appropriate documentation and manuals, selection of key - boarding programs, and changes to be made to the Macintosh lab are only a few of the areas where first hand experience should be considered in broader decision making, be that at the class, school, or division level. The use of a collaborative approach (Burrello & Orbaugh, 1982; Grimmett & Erickson, 1988) allows the voice of the teacher to be heard, and the actions of the teacher supported. The continual support, the "listening ear" and assistance in trouble - shooting which the teacher - participant and the teacher - researcher provided for each other allowed the spiral of learning to occur.

The reconstructions of meaning which occurred within the context of collaborative inquiry were continual and varied in nature. As previously discussed, meaning - making included how each of us came to approach teaching while integrating computers, problem - solving as well as an orientation for the future. Both of us learned to break down the multi - faceted components of the lesson plans, and became more systematic in our instruction. We now approach the use of computers in a more confident, less threatened way, which enables further exploration and experimentation. Both Lee and I have realized that using the computers with students in the classroom has limited the number of teacher choices that can be made. The hardware and software provide a structure and a framework which guide a teacher's choice of strategies. One must remain within the confines and limitations of the program. When we

teach, we give instructions in a positive way, though at the same time wondering whether of not the hardware and software are going to "deliver".

Methodological Issues

I believe that there was a benefit to incorporating the Schonian and narrative frameworks into the study. Both gave some structure and focus when looking at the events of practice and when trying to make sense of the situations. The Schonian framework outlined the conscious and unconscious processes that a person undergoes when grappling with an issue. This framework allowed for a situation to be viewed in the context of a series of events or frames, which is helpful to be because it gives the unfolding of events a pattern, which in this case was very cyclical in nature. The narrative framework provided the opportunity to reflect on issues in a broader sense, including the past, present, and potential future events. The combination of the two frameworks became the vehicle by which the story could unfold. The frameworks also gave me a lens through which I can now view the future. When I think about the integration of computers in the classroom I continue to see a continual cycle of specific situations which require solutions. Increased understanding about the complexity of both frameworks became more evident as the study progressed. I grew continually as I was forced to think about and make sense of, past and present events which occurred. The continual cycle of reflection and further questioning has caused me to "hear" things discussed in other contexts within the narrative and Schonian perspectives. This new way of hearing has allowed me to continue my personal attempt at school reform, examining the issues which I deal with on a personal level, and try to effect change in others through dialogue and modelling. I believe that continued dialogue and working together with other professionals who encounter similar situations will be a vehicle whereby school reform can occur on a broader level.

Implications For Practice

This study has described a case which suggests the need for long - term support for a teacher who is trying to integrate computers into the classroom. It involved providing a resource person who had time to develop a relationship with the teacher she was working with. Teachers and others who read the case may see enough that is parallel to their own situations for "transferability" That is, by identifying with the teacher(s), the situations to occur. and/or interpretations described, they may be encouraged to gain insight into their own situations and otherwise grow new professionally by engaging in reflective practice similar to what is described here. Effective change in philosophy and methodology will be more successful if an individual teacher feels free to ask questions, reveal weaknesses, and develop long - term action plans of effective teaching strategies. (Akker, Keursten & Plomp, 1988). One scenario could include a resource person who would be free to work in a collaborative and consultative basis with teachers at several sites during the course of a school year. Once the teachers

have established a methodological comfort level, the resource person would be free to move on to a new site, while still maintaining continued contact and collaborative interaction with the previous group. Teachers could be provided with a support structure consisting of colleagues who could assist each other both formally and informally.

Teachers should be involved in determining the needs for the school. Barret (1983) proposed the use of local needs assessment as do several other researchers (Burrello & Orbaugh, 1982; Hord & Austin, 1986, Akker, Keursten & Plomp, 1988). Teachers need to be involved in facilitating school reform! Connelly and Clandinin (1989) refer to school reform in the context of reflecting on past, present and imagined future experiences, with the consequence of school reform which grows out of new meaning which results from the process. School reform can become a reality if we allow teachers to reflect on what they have done and where they have come from, and use that reflection as a basis for future decision making. The naming and framing of specific issues can lead to viewing the issue in the broader context of what implications arise as we encounter future situations.

Implications For Future Research

This study does indicate that there is a need to support classroom teachers in an ongoing way if a change in practice is to occur. Similar studies could be done to provide other richly detailed cases and perhaps to what degree similarities in dealing with difficult issues in regard to teaching with computers would occur. A more extensive study of this nature incorporating more teachers would also provide further opportunity for the voice of the classroom teacher, the "one in the trenches" to be heard. The move towards a more conscious level of "taking stock"; "Where have I been?" and "Where am I going?", would provide validity to the "voice" of the teacher. It may begin at a Schonian level of consciously keeping track of events, thoughts and actions, and grow into a broader perspective of where issues belong within the larger picture.

The examination of the "larger picture" integrates the narrative perspective which includes past present and future considerations. This process would provide an opportunity to generalize from practice to theory, rather than the more common pattern of theory being used to generalize to practice. Practice examined through a theoretical "lens" would give validity to practice, and assist in the process of school reform. There is then the possibility that issues can be dealt with and solved through the perceptions and visions of the local teachers.

Appendix A

Knowledge Builder Program

The Knowledge Builder software program is designed to incorporate thinking and writing strategies for use on the Macintosh computer. The program has four principal components:

 Draftwriter 2) Writing Organizer 3) Publisher 4) Knowledge
 Base. Each component facilitates a particular aspect of the thinking and writing process.

The "Draftwriter" allows the writer to type drafts of text and revise them as necessary. The writer is limited to a small number of fonts, but does have the flexibility to change size, style, margins and "proofread" the text with a spelling program.

The "Writing Organizer" has several features in it including the "Notebook", "Concept Map", 'Outliner", as well as memo making capabilities. The "Notebook" allows the writer to jot down ideas, key words, or thoughts which may be incorporated into later writing. The "Concept Map" allows for a mind map to be designed with appropriate connecting "flow" lines and headings. The "Concept Map" can be used as an organizational tool during later writing of text. The "Outliner" allows for the construction of a typed outline which can be as simplistic or complex as desired. The program is capable of having numerous subheadings and subpoints under any given section.

The "Publisher" component accepts text exported from "Draftwriter" or "Writing Organizer" and allows for graphics to be added to the text. It is quite difficult to edit typed text in this

Computer Integration 130

component, so the text must be accurate when exported into the "Publisher". This component allows the writer to set up a page in which ever way is deemed most appropriate before final printing occurs.

The "Knowledge Base" is the place in the program where completed writing can be placed so that other learners can have access to the information. Since the computers in the schools where this program has been piloted have been networked, a knowledge base file can be accessed from any computer in the building. Work is presently underway for schools in the Division to be networked to facilitate the sharing of knowledge throughout the schools.

In addition the the four major components, the program has fifty - two thinking and writing strategies that can be accessed through files in the program. This assists students who may have difficulty remembering all the information given to them when a particular writing strategy is taught.

The complexity of the program allows for many possibilities when incorporating writing using the computer into the classrom. It also brings with it numerous challenges for the classroom teacher.

Bibliography

- Akker, Jan Van Den, Keursten, Paul, & Plomp, Tjeerd (1988).
 Computer integration in the Curriculum: Promises and problems, Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association, New Orleans, April 5-9, 1988. (University microfische document # ED302216)
- Akker, Jan Van Den, Keursten, Paul & Plomp, Tjeerd (1992). The integration of computer use in education. <u>International</u> <u>Journal of Educational Research, 17(1)</u>, 65-76.
- Barnes, Douglas (1992). The Significance of Teachers' Frames for Teaching. In Russel, T. & Munby, Hugh. <u>Teachers and Teaching</u>: <u>From Classroom to Reflection</u>. (Chapter 2). The Falmer Press: London.
- Beattie, Mary (1989). <u>Teacher Learning and Inquiry As Curriculum</u> <u>Development</u> Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Ontario Institute for Studies in Education, University of Toronto.
- Bukoski, William J. & Korotkin, Arthur L. (1976). Computing activities in secondary education. <u>Educational</u> <u>Technology. 16(1)</u>, January, 9-23.
- Burkholder, Jana N. (1985). An Annotated Bibliography of the Literature Dealing with Teacher Training in the Uses of the Computer in Education. Exit Project, Indiana University at South Bend. (University Microfishe #260696)

Burrello, Leonard C. & Orbaugh, Tim (1982). Reducing the discrepancy between the known and the unknown in inservice education. <u>Phi Delta Kappan</u>, <u>63</u>(6), 385-390.
Burrows, Lodema, & Diebetsky, Barbara (1984).

Microcomputers in classrooms: Implications for teacher education. Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the American Association of Colleges for Teacher Education, (36th), San Antonio, Texas, Feb. 1-4.

- Clandinin, D. Jean (1989). Developing rhythm in teaching: The narrative study of a beginning teacher's personal practical knowledge of classrooms. <u>Curriculum Inquiry</u>, <u>19(2)</u>, 121-141.
- Clandinin, D. Jean (1985b). Personal practical knowledge: A s tudy of teacher's classroom images. <u>Curriculum Inquiry</u>, <u>15(4)</u>, 361-385.
- Clandinin, D. Jean & Connelly, F. Michael (1986). The reflective practitioner and practitioners' narrative unities. Canadian Journal of Education, 11(2), 184-199.
- Clandinin, D. Jean, & Connelly, F. Michael (1990). Stories of experience and narrative inquiry. <u>Educational</u> <u>Researcher. 19(5)</u>, p. 2-14.
- Clemente, Rebecca (1991). Effective computer inservece: Factors for success. <u>The Computing Teacher.19(1)</u>, August / September, 28-29.
- Cobb,Paul & Steffe, Leslie P. (1983). The constructivist researcher as teacher and model builder. Journal for <u>Research in Mathematics Education</u>, 14(2), 83-84.

- Cohen, Arthur M., & Brawer, Florence B. (1982). The technology of instruction. <u>Community and Junior College Journal</u>, <u>53(1)</u>, 35-37.
- (1989), Computer Tools for Teachers: A Report.
 Minnesota State Department of Education, St. Paul; 59p.
 <u>Computing: An Action Guide for Educators</u>. Illinois:
 Scott Foresman and Company.
- Connelly, F. Michael, & Clandinin, D. Jean (1987). On narrative method, biography and narrative unities in the study of teaching. <u>The Journal of Educational Thought.21(3)</u>, December, 130-137.
- Dewey, J. (1933). How we think: A restatement of the relation of reflective thinking to the educative process. Chicago: D.C. Heath.
- Dickerson, Laura, & William H.P. Jr. (1981). Microcomputer's and Education: Planning for the coming revolution in the classroom. <u>Educational Technology</u>, January, 7-12.
- Ellis, James D. (1990). Preparing Science Teachers for the information age. <u>Journal of Computers in Mathematics</u> <u>and Science Teaching. 9</u>(4), Summer, 55-69.
- Ellis, James D. (1984). A rationale for using computers in science education. <u>American Biology Teacher. 46(4)</u>, 200-206.
- Fosnot, Catherine T. (1989). <u>Enquiring Teachers / Enquiring</u> <u>Learners: A Constructivist Approach for Teaching</u>. New York: Teachers College Press; 171p.

- Fulton, Kathleen (1988). Preservice and inservice: What must be done in both. <u>Electronic Learning. 8(2)</u>, 32-36.
- Grimmett, Peter P. & Erickson, Gaalen L. (1988). <u>Reflection In</u> <u>Teacher Education</u>. Pacific Education Press, University of British Columbia, 205p.
- Hord, S.M. & Huling Austin, L. (1986). Effective curriculum implementation: Some promising new insights. <u>The</u> <u>Elementary School Journal. 87(1)</u>, 97-115.
- Levinson, Eliot (1990). Will technology transform education or will the schools co-opt technology? <u>Phi Delta Kappan.</u> <u>72(2)</u>, 121-126.
- MacKinnon, Allan M. (1989). <u>Conceptualizing a "reflective</u> <u>practicum" in constructivist science teaching</u>. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of British Columbia, Vancouver.
- Mecklenburger, James A. (1990). Educational technology is not enough. <u>Phi Delta Kappan. 72(2)</u>, 104-108.
- Olson, John.(1990). Information Technology In School:
 Institutional Rewards and Moral Dilemmas, (p. 71-78). In
 Day, C., & Denicolo, Pam, M., Insights Into Teachers'
 Thinking and Practice.
- Payne, Judith, S. (1983). An inservice workshop that helps teachers reduce computer anxiety. (University Microfishe # 238840).
- Rhodes, L.A. (1986). On computers, personal styles, and being human: A conversation with Sherry Turkle. <u>Educational</u> <u>Leadership.43</u>(6), 12-16.
Russell, T., & Munby, H. (1992). *Teachers and Teaching: From Classroom to Reflection*. Falmer Press, London, England.

Sachs, Judyth & Lloyd, Logan (1990). Control or development? A study of inservice education. <u>Journal of Curriculum</u> <u>Studies. 22(5)</u>, 473-481.

Schon, Donald, A. (1987). Educating the Reflective Practitioner. San Francisco: Jossey - Bass.

- Schon, Donald, A. (1983). The Reflective Practitioner: How Professionals Think In Action. New York: Basic Books Inc.
- Scott, Philip, (1987). A Constructivist View of Learning and Teaching in Science: Children's Learning in Science Project. Leeds University, England. 31p. (Microfische Document #287706)
- Sharma, Toni (1982). Inservicing the teachers. <u>Phi Delta</u> <u>Kappan. 63(6)</u>, 403.
- Taylor, Peter (1990). The influence of teachers: Beliefs on constructivist teaching practices. Paper presented to the Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association. Boston MA. April 17-20.
- Trainor, M.M. & Fergosi, Mary H. (1986). The unused computer syndrome: The prescription for its relief. <u>NAASP Bulletin</u>, <u>70(487)</u>, 81-83.
- Van Manen, Max (1977). Linking ways of knowing with ways of being practical. <u>Curriculum Inquiry. 6(3)</u>, 205-228.
- Wagschal, Peter H. (1986). Computers in the schools: Lessons from television. <u>Curriculum Review.25(3)</u>, 32-24.

Yeaman, Andrew R.J. (1992). Seven myths of computerism. <u>Tech</u> <u>Trends For Leaders in Education and Training. 37(</u>2), 22-26.